THE TEACHERS' PERSPECTIVE OF CRITICAL THINKING SKILLS DEVELOPMENT IN MIDDLE SCHOOL GIFTED STUDENTS IN THE SOCIAL STUDIES CLASSROOM THROUGH THE USE OF PRIMARY SOURCES

By

Lara Elizabeth Creel Henry
Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment
Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Education

Liberty University

March 27, 2015

THE TEACHERS' PERSPECTIVE OF CRITICAL THINKING SKILLS DEVELOPMENT IN MIDDLE SCHOOL GIFTED STUDENTS IN THE SOCIAL STUDIES CLASSROOM THROUGH THE USE OF PRIMARY SOURCES

By

Lara Elizabeth Creel Henry

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment
Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Education

Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA
2015

APPROVED BY:

Rebecca Harrison, Ed.D, Committee Chair

Rebecca Burton, Ed.D., Committee Member

John Gardner, Ed.D., Committee Member

Scott Watson, Ph.D., Associate Dean, Advanced Programs

ABSTRACT

Gifted education, although having been a part of the United States educational fabric since the early 1900s, has various definitions and programs throughout the nation. Many gifted students are being placed in regular education programs without consideration of their needs. In 1991 Wineburg began researching and proposing using primary sources for analyzing and research skills in social studies classrooms as a possible way to meet the needs of gifted students while teaching problem solving and critical thinking skills. The purpose of this phenomenological study was to discover two connected concepts: The perception middle school social studies teachers' have toward critical thinking skills and the development of critical thinking skills in gifted students, particularly through the use of primary sources. This phenomenon was researched with the cooperation of nine participants in a medium sized school district in South Carolina. Among the nine participants, three are National Board certified, two are endorsed for gifted education through the South Carolina Department of Education, and their teaching experience varied from one to twenty years. Using the constant comparative method, data were collected through survey, interviews, and classroom observations. The data indicated that these middle school social studies teachers had knowledge of and utilized primary sources to develop critical thinking skills even though they had not previously defined the concept. However, they were lacking professional development and knowledge of gifted students' needs in the classroom.

Keywords: gifted education, social studies education, middle school, primary sources, and critical thinking skills

Dedication

This journey would never have been finished without the amazing love and support of my husband, Jim, children Jenna and Luke, and my parents, Richard and Gail Creel. Jim – your loving support from the moment I started the program including encouraging me every time I felt discouraged, countless late-night editing of the many papers, and helping me make the various trips to Liberty is more than I could have ever asked. You are my rock and I thank God for you daily. Jenna and Luke when you were two and seven months old I started this journey, and you put up with mommy "doing school work" so many times without complaint and saw the trips to Liberty as an adventure. I could not have done this without your good nature and understanding. To my parents, I cannot thank you enough for all you have done for this degree, throughout my childhood and continue to do each day. You both instilled in me a belief in myself that I could achieve anything I set my mind to do and then supported the various "plans" I have had throughout my lifetime. You have always been there for me and in this most recent endeavor you did so through daily prayer, encouragement, going on trips to keep the children while I was in class, and just always being there in so many ways every time I needed you. For this, I dedicate this dissertation to all of you.

To my grandparents – I was blessed to have four amazing grandparents who encouraged me, loved me, inspired me and every day demonstrated in your actions what a Christian life was like. I thank you all for the wonderful example you gave consistently. Papa you are the only one who will be able to celebrate on Earth with me, but one day we will all celebrate.

Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge the following people:

To Dr. Rebecca Harrison – I would never have finished this without your help and encouragement and patience. Each time I spoke with you – you made sure I felt more confident in what I was doing and that I could finish this process. Your guidance was invaluable. Thank you so much for serving as Committee Chair.

To Dr. Rebecca Burton and Dr. John Gardner, thank you both for agreeing to serve on my committee.

To the nine teachers who were a part of this study, thank you all for the personal time you gave me for interviews, survey completion, and especially for opening your classrooms for me to observe.

To my friends and family, thank you all for understanding when I had "schoolwork" to do and for listening to my many discussions of what was going on with it.

To my husband, children, and parents, thank you for lifting me up in prayer each and every day.

Most of all, thank you to my Lord and Savior, for the amazing love and grace you have shown me and for providing me with an amazing support system in family and friends.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	3
Dedication	4
Acknowledgments	5
List of Tables	9
List of Abbreviations	10
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	12
Overview	12
Background	13
Situation to Self	17
Problem Statement	17
Purpose Statement	18
Significance of the Study	18
Research Questions	20
Research Plan	21
Delimitations and Limitations	22
Definitions	22
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	24
Theoretical Framework	25
Related Literature	31
Summary	56
CHAPTER THREE: METHODS	57
Design	57

	Research Question	59
	Setting	59
	Participants	61
	Procedures	62
	Personal Biography	63
	Data Collection	64
	Interviews	65
	Survey/Questionnaires	67
	Observations	68
	Data Analysis	69
	Trustworthiness	71
	Ethical Considerations	74
	Summary	74
СНАР	PTER FOUR: FINDINGS	75
	Overview	75
	Participants	76
	Results	77
	Summary	111
СНАР	PTER FIVE: DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	113
	Overview	113
	Summary of Findings	113
	Discussion	114
	Implications	123

Limitations	126
Recommendations for Future Research	126
Summary	128
REFERENCES	131
APPENDICES	148

List of Tables

Table 1: Mayer's Cognitive Theory of Multimedia Learning	28
Table 2: Paul and Elder's Critical Thinking Skills	30
Table 3: Participant Background Information	77
Table 4: Educator's Perspective of Gifted Education Instrument Results	78
Table 5: Coding Table: Themes, Subcategories and Codes	85
Table 6: Primary Source Identification	104

List of Abbreviations

American Educational Research Association (AERA)

Advanced Placement (AP)

Bachelor of Arts (BA)

Bachelor of Science (BS)

Committee on Social Studies (CSS)

Common Core Standards (CCSS)

Council of Chief State School Officers (CCSSO)

Critical Thinking (CT)

English as a Second Language (ESOL)

Gifted and Talented (GT)

Institutional Review Board (IRB)

Kershaw County School District (KCSD)

Master of Arts (MA)

Master of Arts in Teaching (MAT)

Masters of Education (M ED)

National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP)

National Association of Gifted Children (NAGC)

National Board Certified (NBPTS

National Council of the Social Studies (NCSS)

National Governors Association Center for Best Practices (NGA – Center)

National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented (NRCGT)

No Child Left Behind (NCLB)

Palmetto Assessment of State Standards (PASS)

Social Studies (SS)

United States Department of Education (US DOE)

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

The early 20th century saw the beginning of the modern day social studies classroom and gifted education concepts in the United States. Prior to this time, schools taught history along with various social studies subjects. The modern social studies classroom consists of students learning the subjects of history, law, philosophy, political science, psychology, religion, sociology, geography, economics, anthropology, archeology, government, and civics framed within the concept of good citizenship promotion (National Council for the Social Studies, 1994).

This transformation from the history classroom to the social studies classroom was launched by a report presented by the Committee on Social Studies (CSS) of the National Education Association Commission on the Reorganization of the Secondary School at The Progressive Education Association's 1916 meeting. The Committee defined social studies clearly with history deemed as its primary subject. The primary purpose of social studies was to promote good citizenship. Today, many students and some educators, view social studies as being filled with rote memorization, thus making it the least important of the four core education classes (Conklin, 2011; Sunal & Sunal, 2007-2008).

The beginning of gifted education is viewed most often as having started with Lewis Terman's 1921 study of gifted students. Gifted education had its full beginning in 1957 when the space race between the US and USSR began with the Soviet launching of *Sputnik*. The space race spurred the federal government to fund identification of gifted students in math and science (McClain & Pfeiffer, 2012; National Association for Gifted Children, 2008). Today gifted education exists in various forms depending on the state and/or district. Gifted education exists to help advance students in math or language arts after passing a variety of tests. Funding for

these various gifted programs continues to be lowered as school districts around the nation struggle to trim budgets (Kearney, 2005; United States Department of Education, 2012). The bureaucrats making these decisions are often far removed from the classroom environment.

Social studies classrooms and gifted education are not often viewed as an integrated concept. Gifted education is viewed as a time and place to increase a student's intrinsic motivation for knowledge and produce more creative problem solvers without simply focusing on rote knowledge acquisition (Renzulli, 2012). History and social studies are often presented as subjects focusing on the rote learning of facts that have been preassembled and presented by a teacher. Instead they should be subjects where questions are asked and evidence is sought through various sources, both primary and secondary, to form answers to the questions. They could be viewed as a jigsaw puzzle being put together with various shapes and forms. The end result being students' implementing historical thinking in the social studies classroom (Barksdale, 2013). Using primary sources in the social studies classroom for critical thinking skills development may provide gifted students with much needed skills, academic stimulation as well as an understanding of the importance of the social studies subject.

Background

Thomas Jefferson, Benjamin Rush, and Benjamin Franklin were Founding Fathers who proclaimed their ideas and beliefs about education including history through both public and private writings as well as speeches. Benjamin Rush stated in his essay *The Mode of Education Proper in the Republic* (1786) that, "it is possible to convert men into republican machines" (p. 7) through education that includes history lectures, particularly ones that dealt with constitutions and laws. When proposing the founding of the Academy of Philadelphia (later known as the University of Pennsylvania), Benjamin Franklin stated, "the good Education of Youth has been

esteemed by wise men of all ages, as the surest Foundation of Happiness both of private Families and of Common-wealths" (Proposals Relating to the Education of Youth in Pensilvania [sic], 1749, p. 1). He gave details of what should be taught, including history, stating that "nothing delights" more than history (Franklin, 1749, p. 20). Thomas Jefferson, throughout his life in letters to his contemporaries, his autobiography, and reports, presented his belief on the importance of public education. In one such letter to Peter Carr, Jefferson stated, "It is highly interesting to our country, and it is the duty of its functionaries, to provide that every citizen in it should receive an education proportioned to the condition and pursuits of his life" (Personal correspondence, 1814, p. 4).

Today, history classes, the fundamental component of social studies courses, are considered to be an indispensable aspect of United States public civic education as the Founding Fathers had intended. However, United States citizens' lack of historical knowledge can appear as comical as Jay Leno's "Jaywalk" segment The Tonight Show presented in the past. The segment featured Leno asking questions about American history to random strangers with the purpose being to spotlight the incredible ineptitude of many citizens on the subject (Vickers, 2014). This ineptitude may be a result of history courses maintaining a class of rote memorization of facts and dates that most deem unnecessary and do not remember past the current test.

To combat this perspective, many books and articles are published on curriculum and instructional pedagogy for the social studies classrooms. Published books on the subject include *Teaching Social Studies that Matters: Curriculum for Active Learners* (Thornton & Noddings, 2004), *Social Studies for Secondary Schools: Teaching to Learn, Learning to Teach* (Singer, 2008), and *National Curriculum Standards for Social Studies: A Framework for Teaching*,

Learning and Assessment (National Council for the Social Studies, 2010). The publications provide information on learning based on the current models of standards and teaching. A recent publication is entitled *Social Studies, Literacy and Social Justice in the Common Core Classroom: A Guide for Teachers* (Awarwal-Rangnath, 2013). This publication addresses the curriculum and standards changes that began in some states in 2013. Specifically, it addresses the use of primary source readings as information text.

While much has been published on the matter, there does not appear to be an overall consensus of what is the best practice for teaching students in the social studies classroom. With changes in standards beginning to occur in states, specifically in United State history in social studies in 2015, there is much anticipation of how the classroom will change along with it.

Textbooks are still considered to be the main source of information for history education (Bisland, 2009; Bromlet, 2011; Chappell, 2010; Duran & Null, 2009; Lindquist, 2012; Mayer, 2006; Morgan, 2008; Neumann, 2012; Romanowski, 2009; Sanchez, 2007; Standish, 2008; Wiersma, 2008).

According to Wilcox, Bridges and Montgomery (2010), research on teaching social studies indicates inadequate training for teachers, inadequate instruction time, and a failure to relate "skills and concepts in relevant ways to students' lives or the teacher's inability to identify instructional resources other than textbooks" (p. 1) as reasons for inadequate learning outcomes within the subject. The authors state that such deficits result in elementary school children having inadequate cultural appreciation, limited geographical knowledge, and distorted knowledge about famous historical figures (Wilcox et al., 2010). To enhance cultural appreciation, geography knowledge, knowledge of historical figures, and critical thinking skills several concepts have been proposed including improved technology (Hernandez-Ramos & De

La Paz, 2009; Kingsley & Boone, 2008; Saye & Brush, 2007), arts integration (Lavere, 2008; Wilcox et al., 2010), fostering historical empathy (Brooks, 2009; Bryant, 2007; Endacott, 2010), and enhancing critical thinking skills through the use of primary sources in the history classroom (Barksdale, 2013; Bellows & Liaw, 2011; Morgan & Ransiski, 2012; Neumann, 2012; Ormond, 2011; Padurano, 2011; Salinas, Waring & Robinson, 2010).

The idea of intelligence as a numerical number began in 1905 with the development of a series of tests designed by Binet and Simon meant to identify children with inferior intelligence. The results were published in 1916 in a book entitled *The Development of Intelligence in Children*. In 1913, Lewis Terman believed that validation of the Binet-Simon Scale of mental intelligence would enhance the education of gifted and talented students. Terman's famous study of gifted students by standardizing the scale through large sample testing of American students began in 1921. Gifted students were described as "quick, understanding, insatiable curiosity, extensive information, retentive memory, early speech, unusual vocabulary" with a score 40% higher on the achievement test than other children of their chronological age (Terman, 1925, p. 287).

Leta Hollingworth also conducted studies on the nature of gifted students and published the first textbook for gifted education in 1926. The two were similar in their beliefs about gifted students except for one major difference; Terman believed giftedness was inherent while Hollingworth believed giftedness could be influenced by environmental and educational factors (Plucker, 2012).

In 1957, substantial amounts of money began to be funneled to the education of gifted students. After the Soviet Union launched *Sputnik*, gifted education found a place in the public school classroom. Throughout the past 60 years, gifted education has evolved and changed

through legislation. This evolution includes additions and expansion to the definition of giftedness; however, a consensus cannot be found among researchers. At the same time, overall funding has been significantly decreased and continues to vary drastically based upon what state and district the gifted student attends (Hargrove, 2012; McCoy & Rader, 2008).

Social studies could be utilized as a highly effective subject in the overall development of gifted students. When social studies is used effectively the needs of gifted students can be met while still adding to the academic, emotional, and social development of students (Diffily, 2002; Kaplan, 2012; Little, Feng, VanTassel-Baska, Rogers & Avery, 2007; Moon, 2002; Troxclair, 2000). Primary sources in the modern social studies classroom can be used to effectively develop critical thinking skills in gifted students.

Situation to Self

As a middle school social studies teacher I observed social studies being viewed by many, including the writers of standards throughout the country, as a class for rote knowledge memorization that should be learned through one tract. Research has begun to show a belief that social studies can be much more than that (Conklin, Hawley, Powell, & Ritter, 2010; Little, 2012; Van Tassel-Baska, 2008; Wineburg, 2001; Wineburg, 1991). The class through primary source analysis can be used to develop critical thinking skills, and in turn, gifted students' development.

Problem Statement

The problem is gifted education has increasingly lost funding and importance in districts (US DOE, 2014). The gifted student population is not being provided the education they need to reach their full potential. Gifted students are often placed in age-locked classrooms without additional instruction (Berman, Schultz, & Weber, 2012). Many regular education teachers are

without gifted and talented endorsements and believe that these students do not need additional educational services to help them reach their potential (Bangel, Moon, & Capobianco, 2010). Social studies, as a subject, has become increasingly marginalized in K-8 classrooms with continued decrease in scores (Conklin, 2011). Middle school social studies teachers may be unaware of how gifted and talented students can effectively be taught critical thinking skills, a skill increasingly focused on with the implementation of common core standards, in the classroom through analysis of primary sources that include media, music, documents, photographs, and paintings (Kaplan, 2012; Little, 2012).

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this phenomenological study was to discover the perceptions of middle school social studies teachers' use of primary sources in the development of gifted students' critical thinking in a medium sized school district in South Carolina. Critical thinking skills in the social studies classroom has been defined as "the kind of thinking involved in solving problems, formulating inferences, calculating likelihoods, and making decisions" (Halpern, 2007, p. 6) that has been facilitated through "understanding of history based evidence" (Salinas et al., 2011, p. 186), particularly primary sources. The purpose of this study is to illuminate the specific phenomenon of teacher perceptions' of utilizing primary sources to develop critical thinking skills in gifted students.

Significance of the Study

The year 2012 marked the ten year anniversary of No Child Left Behind (NCLB). While it states a goal of "raising challenges and improving student achievement" (Hargrove, 2012, p. 72) it was silent regarding the gifted and talented students of the United States, and within the first five years of its implementation funding for gifted programs was cut by one-third and has

not been increased since, with the last two or three years seeing no federal funding for gifted education (United States Department of Education, 2014). At the same time, social studies has increasingly become marginalized in the K-8 classrooms (Guidry, Cuthrell, O'Connor & Good, 2010; Sunal & Sunal, 2007-2008). Student scores have continued to decrease in the subject. Middle school social studies teachers must also overcome a need to teach a large amount of material in less time (Guidry et al., 2010) leading teachers to teach basic facts while excluding other sources that could foster historical critical thinking skills (Lindquist, 2012; Neumann, 2012; Waring & Robinson, 2010).

In the early part of the 21st century, middle school social studies classrooms were proposed as a means to provide gifted and talented students with various types of learning opportunities (Diffily, 2002; Kaplan, 2002; Little et al., 2007; Moon, 2002; Troxclair, 2000). Since that time social studies classrooms and the use of primary sources have been discussed as a means to teach students critical thinking skills (Jones & Hebert, 2012; Lindquist, 2012; National Council for Social Studies, 2012; Neumann, 2012; Ormond, 2011; Padurano, 2011; Tally & Goldenberg, 2005; Waring & Robinson, 2010). Research indicates that the majority of social studies classrooms utilize the textbook as the main focus for instruction with rote memorization of facts the overall goal (Lavere, 2008; Mayer, 2006; Stern & Stern, 2011; Wiersma, 2008).

At the same time, gifted programs are being defunded. Many teachers believe gifted students will understand the information on their own and do not provide curriculum for their specific needs (Berman et al., 2012; McCoy & Radar, 2008; Moon, Callahan, Tomlinson & Miller, 2002). This study provides evidence of what middle school social studies teachers understand to be primary source usage and critical thinking skills compared to what is being

offered in current research. The information in this study provides direction as to what needs to be discussed between teachers in the field and current researchers.

The area in which the study was conducted has a well-developed pull-out gifted program with teachers trained in gifted education. However, as of 2013, the eighth-grade students in the district will no longer be serviced with the pull-out situation. Following the lead of surrounding districts, the pull-out program may be removed soon. If this happens, gifted students will be entirely provided an education by teachers, who as a majority have had no professional development or coursework in gifted education.

Research Questions

According to the State Department of Education, teachers must be highly qualified to teach a specific subject, including social studies, in middle school. To be highly qualified means a teacher has been educated in the subject matter, educated in middle level studies and has passed Praxis exams for the subject and level. However, the need to be highly qualified is a recent change and teachers were grandfathered into the qualification, or are working toward the qualification through an alternate program. Teachers of gifted students in the pull-out program are required to have completed an endorsement through the state, but it is not a requirement in the regular education classroom. Gifted students have specific characteristics with special needs for the classroom (American Mensa, 2012). According to Renzulli (2012), gifted education has several purposes, including providing society with problem solvers who will develop new ideas. This could be achieved most effectively in social studies if teachers were qualified to teach gifted students and social studies. This leads to the first research question:

1. What are the educational backgrounds of middle school social studies teachers qualifying them to teach social studies and gifted students?

Studies conducted by Salinas et al. (2011) and Stoddard (2010) indicate a discrepancy in how primary sources should be defined. The Library of Congress has a limited description of primary sources. The most comprehensive description can be found on a website maintained by the Department of Education, Teaching History. Because of this discrepancy in what a primary source can be, the third question will address primary sources in the classroom:

2. What do middle school social studies teachers understand to be primary sources and how do they use them in the classroom?

In 1991, Wineberg conducted and published a study on historical critical thinking skills. Since that time, he has continued pursuing this concept in studies specifically with the use of primary sources. Variations of this theme have been pursued, including studies by Fillpot, (2012), Salinas et al., (2011), and Wilcox et al., (2010). Within these studies, gifted students and their needs were not addressed and so this research question is provided in the context of this study to understand how the various concepts come together:

3. What are critical thinking skills and how can social studies and primary sources be used to enhance these skills in gifted students?

Research Plan

This qualitative study employed a phenomenological design. Ary, Jacobs and Sorenson (2010) explain phenomenological studies as asking the major question "What does this experience mean for the participants in the experience?" (p. 31). The purpose of this study was to understand how various teachers perceived aspects of the classroom specifically primary sources and critical thinking skills. As Bogdan and Biklen (2007) described, the purpose was not to find facts and causes, but instead to discover the perception of a phenomenon. This approach

allowed for the information to be gathered and to interpret how teachers define and use primary sources in the classroom, as well as their usefulness in critical thinking skills development in gifted students. It also provided a path for self-reflection for the participating teachers.

The study included nine participants in a smaller county in South Carolina. Data were collected through a survey, interview, and one class observation with field notes. All data were analyzed through the constant comparative method. Data were coded until themes were discovered.

Delimitations

Delimitations. The participants for this study were middle school social studies teachers in a medium sized school district in the central part of South Carolina. Traditionally in this area there are three grade levels in middle school, but this study used only seventh- and eighth- grade teachers. Sixth-grade students are 11 years old and are at a crossroads moving from, as Jean Piaget described, concrete to abstract cognitive thinking, and this time should be used as developing foundations for critical thinking (Waring & Robinson, 2010). Seventh- and eighth-grade students are at the beginning of the abstract cognitive thinking stage and should be able to employ deductive learning, an important aspect of historical critical thinking. The phenomenological approach was chosen in order to investigate perceptions of middle school teachers without starting with a clear defined belief.

Definitions

- Critical Thinking Skills thinking that involves problem solving, inferences and calculations for decisions (Facione, 2011).
- 2. *Gifted* children who give evidence of high performance capability in areas such as intellectual, creative, artistic, leadership capacity, or specific academic fields, and who

- require services or activities not ordinarily provided by the school in order to fully develop such capabilities (South Carolina State Board of Education, 2004).
- 3. *Historical Thinking Skills* critical thinking skills that have been facilitated by understanding history based evidence particularly through primary sources (Salinas et al., 2011; Stoddard, 2010).
- 4. *Primary Sources* original documents and objects created during a particular time periods including photographs, music, and art (Library of Congress, n.d.; Department of Education, 2010-2012)

Summary

Gifted education has lost funding and importance throughout the past decade. Social studies classrooms continue to focus on rote memorization and not critical thinking. It has been proposed that social studies could provide gifted students with needed critical thinking skills through analysis of primary sources. What are the perceptions of this idea held by current middle school social studies teachers?

A phenomenological study with nine participants was conducted in a small South Carolina district. The study was framed with three research questions. The significance of this study is to provide information about what teachers' in the classroom know and utilize in the classroom on a day to day basis with regards to gifted education, critical thinking skills, and primary sources.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

Introduction

Social Sciences, including social studies and history, are considered an integral aspect of public education (Fallace, 2008). Today, academic achievement or lack thereof within the subject continues to cause discontent within the educational community. The effort to teach standardized test information has led to rote memorization taking the fore-front in the social studies classroom. At the same time, social studies has been given less importance as schools dedicate additional time, funds, and energy to the core subjects of reading and math in order to meet the No Child Left Behind goals for the previous decade and now the Common Core Standards (CCSS) of reading and math as they begin to be implemented.

One paradox in the current political climate is that great value is placed on "creativity, innovation, and entrepreneurship" within the modern classroom in order to "provide for the citizenry of our country and achieve global status", but these are not consistently integrated into "the core of regular curriculum nor assessed to ensure they are being developed by our students" (Kaplan, 2012, p. 151). The group that receives the greatest disservice is gifted students, especially as gifted education is defunded and many teachers believe students identified as gifted will simply progress on their own. Teachers often fail to understand the need for gifted students to be challenged. This failure to understand the needs of these students can at times ultimately be the failure in their overall education.

The following chapter will first provide information on the theoretical aspect of the proposed qualitative study. This will be followed with literature and subtopics on gifted education history, the state of gifted education, the state of social studies courses, and studies on

the use of primary sources in the classroom, including what constitutes a primary source and how this evokes critical thinking skills.

Theoretical Framework

A 2008 national study of gifted education by Farkas and Duffett reported the survey results of 900 third- through twelfth-grade teachers. The study stated that gifted education was a top priority in only 23% of the public schools surveyed. The study went on to state that 50% of teachers' surveyed agreed students were often labeled gifted because "their parents are overzealous and know how to work the system" and only 9% believed the tests identified gifted students accurately (Farkas & Duffett, 2008, p. 50).

Identification of gifted students, as with the definition of gifted, varies within state and/or district. Carman (2013) conducted a study to determine the processes used to identify gifted students. Using a pre-determined guideline to choose empirical studies, 113 were chosen to discover what criteria are often used for identifying gifted students. The results reported nine categories for identification listed in descending order: intelligence measure, achievement test, academic achievement, teacher recommendation, additional sources (such as portfolios and interviews), parent recommendation, extracurricular activities, school recommendation, and counselor recommendation (Carman, 2013). After being identified, gifted students are not always provided with an education that allows them to grow as a student.

Educators and the general population often view gifted students as able to progress through the standards and curriculum with minimal assistance. Advancement is not given top priority. The newest drive in education is to implement and utilize Common Core Standards (CCSS). According to the Common Core State Standards Initiative (2015, para. 18-19), "The standards do not define the nature of advanced work for students who meet the standards. The

standards set grade-specific standards but do not define the intervention methods or materials necessary to support students who are well below or well above grade-level expectations." The CCSS goes on to state that advanced materials should be used for above level students. However, as Schroeder-Davis (2014) argues, it is based on the erroneous assumption that advanced materials are available and teachers' know how to advance students with such materials. Several gifted researchers have shown support for the common core state standards and have written two books to address how common core can be utilized for gifted students: A Teacher's Guide to Using the Common Core State Standards with Gifted and Advanced Learning in the English Arts (Hughes, Kettler, Shaunessey-Dedrik, & Van Tassel-Baska, 2014) and A Teacher's Guide to Using the Common Core State Standards with Mathematically Gifted and Advanced Learner (Johnsen, Ryser, & Assouline, 2014). Schroeder-Davis (2014) views this as a red-flag because the standards cannot be utilized for gifted students without additional support. VanTassel-Baska (2015), when addressing arguments for and against common core standards, stated that a real concern is teachers' lack the knowledge of how to utilize the standards for gifted students and the standards are too ELA and math specific. This lack of knowledge could result in social studies becoming another ELA classroom, and not a classroom to develop problem-solving skills and critical thinking skills.

The theoretical framework for the use of primary sources to develop historical critical thinking skills in this study is found in five sources: Piaget's Cognitive Learning Theory, Paul and Elder's Critical Thinking Model, Erikson's Concept-Based Classroom, Wineburg's Historical Thinking concept, as well as Mayer's Multimedia Learning. Five theories are being presented because the study addresses an array of ideas including the need for differentiated gifted education for critical thinking skills development as well as the use of various types of

primary sources. The five sources also originated during various times over the past century providing a basis that this phenomenon is more than a mere passing fad.

Jean Piaget introduced the concept of intellectual development in stages in the early 20th century. Piaget's cognitive development theory states that the average child reaches the formal operational stage of cognitive development at the age of 11. It is within this framework that Lee and Shemilt (2003) proposed the concept of a "model of progression" for students gaining historical empathy in the classroom. Lee and Shemilt believe that the current system of high stakes testing for the sake of expediency should be removed. They state that progression models based on empirical research should be a replacement. Piaget once stated, "The principle goal of education in the schools should be creating men who are capable of doing new things, not simply repeating what other generations have done" (as cited in Duckworth, 1968, p. 499).

The development of critical thinking skills can be likened to Piaget's cognitive development stages, as they are linked to intellectual potential (Behar-Horenstein & Niu, 2011). The formal operation stage includes abstract reasoning as a necessary component for critical thinking skills and not rote memorization or repeating what others have done (McLeod, 2012). Piaget's philosophy has also been used by others as a basis for constructivism in education, particularly his concept of dynamic learning to construct meaningful order (Peterson, 2012).

With this in mind, middle school is an appropriate time to begin teaching with abstract thinking concepts in mind and progressive complex knowledge development as described by Piaget. However, with the high-stakes testing model used today, abstract thinking and critical thinking skills are often replaced with basic fact memorization in history and science classes. This is done in order to teach the vast amount of material that needs to be covered in one year. Being able to make a judgment means utilizing critical thinking skills - necessary skills for our

leaders of tomorrow. As Jefferson (1781) stated, "by apprising them [students] of the past history would enable them judge the future (p. 198)."

To teach critical thinking skills in the social studies classroom, history needs to be presented not just through the textbooks with rote memorization as the end result, but through primary sources. In the current age of technology, classrooms have access to an amazing amount of visual resources and information. This knowledge is readily available and has the potential to be used for primary source discernment.

Mayer (1998) developed a Cognitive Theory of Multimedia Learning to provide research and studies on the cognitive benefits and use of multimedia in the classroom. Primary sources are often displayed through multimedia because of its quick access to historical information.

The theory contains five aspects, shown in Table 1.

Table 1

Mayer's Cognitive Theory of Multimedia Learning Principles and Explanations

Principle	Explanation
Multiple Representation Principle	Explanations should be made in words and
	pictures allowing for two different mental
	representations: verbal and visual
Contiguity Principle	Multimedia presentations should include
	contiguous words and pictures explanations
Split-Attention Principle	Multimedia presentations should use
	auditory narration not on-screen text
Individual Differences Principle	The effects will depend on individual
	differences of the learner
Coherence Principle	It is more beneficial to use fewer words for
	a highlight of the summary

Note. Adapted from Mayer and Moreno (1998).

According to Piaget's Cognitive Development Theory, middle school age is the beginning of abstract thought. Mayer's Multimedia Theory attests to the possible cognitive growth through visual representation including primary sources. Wineburg's (1991) concept of

historical thinking can be viewed as utilizing the two concepts. His theory places an emphasis on critical thinking skill development, an abstract concept, through analysis of primary sources, which are a visual representation. As an educational psychologist, Wineburg (1991) was interested in how people learn from written text, particularly primary sources found in history classes. Wineburg (1991) focused his research on the lack of historical critical thinking skills used by teachers and students. In his study, he presented eight texts (seven primary sources and one textbook) to use with the process of think aloud. Think aloud is a social studies-literacy strategy in which a person discusses a text aloud while reading it. In other words, a passage is read and the person says aloud everything he or she is thinking while reading (Wineburg, 1998). Several college-bound students were asked to think aloud through the texts and then determine which sources they found to be the most trustworthy. The students determined the textbook to be the most accurate and trustworthy. These results caused Wineburg (1991) to conclude that history class should move from basic information found through embedded questions to a place of inquiry and complex cognitive processes.

Wineburg's research has continued with several studies. One, in 1998, involved the use of two history professors with a think aloud process used on documents from the Civil War Era. Wineburg determined once again that primary sources can be used to enhance historical thinking skills. As a result of his research, Wineburg (2008) has developed a concept entitled Historical Thinking Matters that addresses how to develop student historical thinking through analysis of primary sources, particularly visual ones, through sourcing, conceptualizing, corroborating, and close readings. The analysis resulting from use of this approach has been found to produce historical critical thinking skills in students.

Paul and Elder (2010) presented the concept that critical thinking should be infused within all disciplines. They suggest that this infusion with a common approach and language will allow for critical skill development. The approach developed by Paul and Elder utilizes three basic concepts, shown in Table 2.

Table 2

Paul and Elder's Critical Thinking Skills

Critical thinking skills	Explanation
Analysis of Thinking	Focusing on the parts or structures of thinking
Evaluation of Thinking	Focusing on the quality
Improvement of Thinking	Using what you have learned

Note: Taken from Paul and Elder (2010).

Paul and Elder (2010) contend that with the habitual use of critical thinking skills particular traits will be produced. There are five overall traits for a well-cultivated critical thinker: (a) raise vital questions; (b) gather and access relevant information, specifically abstract ideas; (c) develop well-reasoned conclusions; (d) think open-mindedly; and (e) communicate effectively (Paul & Elder, 2010). These five traits are similar to traits presented for developing a successful historical critical thinker. They provide an additional framework for how social studies classrooms can be utilized in skill development.

In 2007, Erikson presented his concept of the "thinking classroom" (p. 7), an idea that is similar to Paul and Elder's later 2010 framework. This type of classroom utilizes concept-based curriculum and instructional design models that focus on intellectual development, as well as on gaining knowledge. Students should be "invited to bring their own thinking to the factual study" (Erikson, 2007, p. 11). This invitation makes the learning process personal and emotional with

the goal of increasing intrinsic motivation. This will also lead students to extend their thinking beyond learning facts to view patterns and connections that are an integral aspect of historical thinking skills. Students will do as Paul and Elder (2004) stated, "improve the quality of his or her thinking by skillfully taking charge of the structures inherent in thinking and imposing intellectual standards upon them" (p. 1).

These five theories (concepts) provide the framework for the purpose of this study. A student's development from concrete to abstract is an important part of middle school years (Piaget, 1973). The current global age of technology allows for a constant use of primary sources through the multimedia available in the classroom (Mayer, 1998). The two concepts are connected through Wineburg's (2008) historical thinking matters concept. Paul and Elder's (2010) critical thinking skills concept and Erikson's (2007) concept based curriculum for the thinking classroom give a more in-depth explanation of the specific skill set that is to be developed.

Related Literature

Literature reviews provide links for proposed studies as well as gaps. In recent years, studies have been conducted on the use of primary sources in the social studies classroom to evoke historical empathy and how it enhances students' knowledge and understanding of history and critical thinking skills. This has been done as part of an effort to create better historical understanding and knowledge in response to low test scores in the subject. In the literature, it has been discussed and proposed that gifted students could be serviced in a regular education heterogeneous group social studies classroom.

Social studies lost importance with the passage of the No Child Left Behind act. The coming implementation of the Common Core Standards appears to continue this trend, as it does

not address the needs of any specific populations, including gifted students. At the same time, some research has shown that many social studies classrooms are still utilizing textbook teaching for rote memorization during the majority of the teaching time. There is a lack of studies in the literature that address the gap between what is being discussed for gifted students, critical thinking skills and social studies classrooms, and what is actually occurring with teachers in the social studies classroom today.

The literature review provides information on gifted education history and gifted student characteristics. The history of social studies in the classroom is presented. It also encompasses a definition of historical critical thinking skills, as well as ways in which primary sources can be used to enhance such skills. Lastly, a review is presented on how gifted students, social studies, historical thinking skills, and primary sources are intertwined in educational studies.

Gifted Education History

Gifted education first began in the United States in 1868 in St. Louis, Missouri with the first systematic attempt in public schools to educate gifted students under Superintendent William Harris. Intelligence as a numerical number, with subjects being grouped by numerical scores, began in 1905 with the development of a series of tests to identify children with inferior intelligence by researchers Binet and Simon (1916). H. H. Goddard translated this scale into English in 1908. Jean Piaget, born in Switzerland, came to the Binet Institute in the United States in the 1920s to translate English intelligence tests into French, after which he wrote his cognitive theory (McLeod, 2012).

In 1913, Lewis Terman believed that validation of the Binet-Simon Scale of mental intelligence would enhance the education of gifted and talented students. In 1921 he began his famous study of gifted students by standardizing the scale through large sample testing of

American students. Gifted students were described as having "quick understanding, insatiable curiosity, extensive information, retentive memory, early speech, unusual vocabulary" with a score 40% higher on the achievement test than other children of their chronological age (Terman, 1925, p. 287).

During the same time period that Terman conducted his studies on gifted children, Leta Hollingworth also conducted studies on the nature of gifted students and published the first textbook for gifted education in 1926. Even with studies such as these, gifted education in the classroom did not become widespread until 1957 when substantial amounts of money began to be funneled to the education of gifted students after the Soviet Union launching of *Sputnik*. Gifted education did not begin as a statewide process until the early 1970s.

The Marland Report of 1972, a seminal report authored by then Commissioner of Education, Sydney Marland, encouraged "states to identify a minimum of three to five percent of the school population as gifted" (Mcclain & Pfeiffer, 2012, p. 60). Since then gifted education has evolved and changed through legislation and gifted definition modifications. In 1983, *A Nation at Risk* was published and included policies and practices for gifted education, modification of curriculum, and how to raise academic standards. *A Nation Deceived: How Schools Hold Back America's Brightest Students* (2004) was published as a research based report on acceleration in American schools for gifted students, particularly how often acceleration was not done in the public school system to the detriment of the students. By the beginning of the 20th century, education authorities began to realize that utilizing only an IQ test score to identify gifted students was limited. A multiple criterion approach began to be utilized instead by those in the gifted field. However, school districts have been slow to change their own approach (Mcclain & Pfeiffer, 2012).

Throughout this time, a single consensus for a definition of gifted has not been agreed upon by all. *Conceptions of Giftedness*, edited by Sternberg and Davidson (2005), included 24 chapters of gifted education scholars' theories and aspects of giftedness and none were the exact same. McClain and Pfeiffer's study of 2012 also determined that one definition among the 50 states was not found, and in many cases varied by district. This lack of a consensus can be viewed as a blessing going beyond "cultural blindness" (Ford, Moore, & Milner, 2005, p. 102), as it can facilitate various theories and models on how to identify giftedness and provide for such students. This approach may be sensitive to what is thought of as gifted throughout a wide range of cultures at home and abroad (Persson, 2012).

There are several well-known definitions of giftedness. One of the more well-known definitions was formed by Joseph Renzulli in 1978. He theorized gifted behavior contained three important components: specific abilities to perform above the general average, task commitment, and high level of creativity (Renzulli, 1978). The Jacob Javits Act, a part of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act, passed in 1988, with giftedness defined as:

children who give evidence of high performance capability in areas such as intellectual, creative, artistic, leadership capacity, or specific academic fields, and who require services or activities not ordinarily provided by the school in order to fully develop such capabilities. (p. 26)

The Jacob Javits Act was renewed in 2001 with additional support for projects for gifted students included, but one definition for all states was not included. One possible reason for lack of a synonymous definition could be due to the many dimensions and characteristics of giftedness.

Gifted characteristics and identification. Gifted characteristics are divided into a variety of subcategories. There are intellectual, learning, creativity, leadership, affective, and

cognitive characteristics, to list some of the more well-known (American Mensa, 2012; Manning, 2008; Seagoe, n.d.). Within the subcategories are characteristics for each along with special needs that should be met in the classroom for gifted students to truly succeed. Gifted students must first be identified based on a definition and the criteria.

As of 2012, a consensus for a definition of giftedness has not been found although many states have changed or modified their definition of gifted over the past 10 years. Out of 50 states, 48, including South Carolina, have their own established definitions of giftedness according to a study conducted by McClain and Pfeifer (2012).

For the purpose of this study, the definition of gifted education will be the one provided by the South Carolina State Board of Education in June 2004 since the study will be conducted in a South Carolina school district. According to Regulation 43-220, gifted education pertains to students:

identified in grades one through twelve as demonstrating high performance ability or potential in academic and/or artistic areas and therefore require an educational program beyond that normally provided by the general school program in order to achieve their potential. Gifted and talented abilities for these regulations include: academic and intellectual ability: students who have the academic and/or intellectual potential to function at a high level in one or more academic areas and visual and performing arts: students who have the artistic potential to function at a high performance level in one or more fine arts. (p. 1)

Students are identified using both aptitude and achievement tests in South Carolina. Each district is given license to develop their own gifted program that must be submitted to the Department of Education every three years for review (SC Regulation 43-220, 2004). In recent

years, with the passage of No Child Left Behind's emphasis on reading and math, coupled with budget shortfalls across the state, many districts are choosing to reduce or eliminate gifted programs with the belief that the regular classroom can serve them. This includes the district that is the focus of this study.

The district that is the focus of this study has a multi-step process consisting of referral, screening, and assessment. The South Carolina Department of Education criteria for placement into the gifted program are based on three dimensions: Aptitude, Achievement, and Academic. All district students during second grade are initially screened. Screening following second grade is done based on recommendations made by teachers, administrators, counselors, or parents, with screening most often done when Advanced scores are received in math or reading on the Palmetto Assessment of State Standards (PASS) ([School District Name Withheld], 2013). Students must meet two of the three criteria listed in Appendix A. After identification, students receive services through a pull-out classroom in grades three through seven and honors/Advanced Placement tracked classes in grades eight through twelve.

State of gifted education. Gifted education, according to Renzulli (2012), has two purposes. The first is to allow students who possess a superior potential in an area to maximize their opportunities. The second is to further civilization while producing new ideas. To provide for the two purposes, Renzulli states that public education should provide optimal education based on student strengths and needs.

Instead, funding and staffing for public education, including gifted education, have faced many cuts throughout recent years, with gifted education still searching for an identity.

Classrooms often fail to meet the needs of gifted students in spite of some evidence to the contrary (Van Tassel-Baska, 2008). Gifted students are valuable resources but are not being

challenged to maximize opportunities. Educators often mistakenly believe that gifted students will simply progress through information independent of outside help (McCoy & Rader, 2008). The general education teacher often lacks the training necessary to meet the needs of gifted students (Banger et al., 2010), or they may espouse a belief that gifted education is an elitist concept that should not be endorsed (O'Reilly & Matt, 2012).

Most gifted students, including the profoundly gifted, in the public education system are in an age-appropriate regular education classroom with little or no modification (Kearney, 1996; Troxclair, 2000) having to "endure unchallenging curriculum, a slow pace of instruction, and a state of ignorance by many of their general education teachers" (Berman et al., 2012, p. 19). A 2002 study conducted by Moon et al., showed that regular education teachers placed gifted learners fourth in importance behind the whole class as a single unit, average learners, and learners with disabilities. A similar study conducted in 1995 placed gifted learners second in importance within the classroom (Moon et al., 2002). In the Moon et al. study of 2002, curriculum standards and key concepts were considered the most important. This is lowered expectations compared to the National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented (NRCGT) study in 1995 in which complex open-ended questions and student questions and choices were the most important aspects of the classroom.

This trend was not helped by the passage of NCLB in 2002, as demonstrated by the Thomas B. Fordham Institute. In 2008, the Institute compared pre and post NCLB data from the National Assessment of Education Progress (NAEP), as well as teachers' views toward gifted students. The results indicated that gifted students made minimal gains over the five-year span. Teachers indicated they believed all students should receive equal attention. In fact, 60% stated that the struggling students should receive the majority of the attention (Thomas B. Fordham Institute,

2008). Early assessments do not indicate this will change with the implementation of the CCSS, although studies have not been conducted at this point.

An overall reason for gifted students having a lack of attention in the classroom is often the erroneous view that gifted students are privileged and will understand and pass the information no matter the circumstances. Thus they are left to their own devices. In a study conducted in Montana, O'Reilly, and Matt (2012) attempted to address the problem presented in the mainstream media that students are oftentimes placed in gifted programs because of a belief that the student's birth date in relation to the start of the school year will increase their success in school. The findings, through use of a correlation coefficient, indicated that small districts did tend to reflect bias toward age in Montana public schools, whereas large districts did not. With the study taking place in Montana only, it cannot be generalized throughout the United States because the majority of the school districts sampled were rural and predominantly Caucasian. However, the researchers used these results to suggest that mainstream media, as well as educational journals, must be extremely careful in generalizations in order to represent the gifted population accurately.

A lack of cohesive and comprehensive policies for gifted students continues today (Stephens, 2011). Gifted students are the only exceptional children with no federal protection by law (Colangelo, Assouline, & Gross, 2004; Kinney, 2008;) although the Higher Education Opportunity Act in 2008 does state that teachers must have skills and an understanding of how to effectively meet the needs of all students. This specifically includes gifted and talented students. This created the first federal mandate for how teachers should prepare to teach gifted students. The majority of the funding for gifted education comes from individual state budgets and not the federal government.

As budgets are cut, gifted school programs are caught between the "budget knife and current philosophical movements in education which emphasize heterogeneity" (Kearney, 2005, p. 2). In the 2011, 2012, and 2013 federal budgets, the Javits Act received zero funding for gifted education for the first time since its passage in 1988 (US DOE, 2014). The 2014 federal budget does provide five million dollars for gifted education, with one million earmarked for research and the other four million for discretionary grants. This amount is significantly lower than the 11.5 million dollars provided in 2002 (US DOE, 2014). As a result, gifted students continue to be placed in an "age-grade lockstep" in which gifted children waste a good portion of their time and energy (Kearney, 2005). This can lead students to become bored, disengaged in school, and become underachievers. They may be the "class clown" in an attempt to gain their peers' acceptance because they feel isolated for being gifted (Manning, 2006). Educators are tasked with providing for all students, however when students become bored and the class clown because they already have knowledge being discussed it can lead to teachers feeling frustrated with the gifted students in the classroom.

Today, Common Core Standards are the newest concept for education as a whole. Common Core will allow all students in the nation to learn the same standards in reading and math, with science and social studies to be added into the concept over the next several years. Gifted students are not given special differentiation because the standards are believed to be already at a high level of learning. However, if used rigidly, common core could possibly limit learning (Johnsen, 2012). As our nation continues on the path of full inclusion schools, the status of the gifted student will most likely not improve, particularly minority students who continue to be underrepresented in gifted identification (Ford, 2011) even though approximately half of the

states do mandate policies and procedures to identify minority gifted students (McClain & Pfeiffer, 2012).

In a previous study presented in 2006 by Brown, Avery, Van Tassel-Baska, Worley, and Stambaugh, South Carolina was found to be the one state out of the five included with a gifted program that could stand on its own meaning it has developed a positive gifted program.

According to the Constitution, education ultimately rests in the hands of the individual state.

Because of gifted education requirements, content differs not just state to state, but also district to district. In 2003, the College of William and Mary in Virginia was contacted by the Ohio Department of Education to conduct a policy review of six states' policies and success rates in regard to their gifted students (Brown et al., 2006). The six states were chosen based on meeting preset criteria of having a state director, gifted education legislature, funding above five million dollars, similarities to the demographics of Ohio, as well as willingness to be a part of the study (Brown et al., 2006).

The researchers conducted five types of data analysis: document review of the states' regulations, guidelines and policies as provided by the gifted director, interviews with Department of Education personnel, focus groups with each states' advisory groups for gifted programs, and deductive analysis of each states' written policies compared to the NAGC's most recent program standards at the time of the study. The researchers determined that South Carolina had developed a comprehensive gifted policy to ensure that gifted students be identified and serviced. It was also determined that the policies implemented were "visible and viable" with involvement by university personnel, local districts and government to develop regulations and best practices for gifted programs leading to "much buy-in for the system used" (Brown et al., 2006, p. 15).

While this was a positive endorsement for the gifted education program in South Carolina, there were limitations. There was no plan of action to continually reevaluate and include the newest research for gifted identification. There was also a lack of connection between gifted education and content standards, particularly concerning middle school teachers. Due to the study's small sample size and similar subject demographics, the results could not be used as an accurate comparison to other states (Brown et al., 2006).

Case studies conducted by Swanson and Lord (2011) and Swanson (2007) specifically on South Carolina gifted education programs indicated a state program that is not stagnant. The state has shown growth with legislation such as the passage of the Education Improvement Act of 1984, mandating gifted education. Other examples of improvement have come from legal cases, standards and regulations that are reviewed and revised as needed. State funding has remained steady throughout this period (Swanson & Lord, 2011), although individual districts fund a large portion of the gifted programs. "The statute, regulations, and other state policies have provided clarity and consistency about who is academically gifted in SC, what qualifications are required for the teachers of academically gifted youngsters, and program model designs that are educationally sound" (Swanson, 2007, p. 134).

The case study was conducted by Swanson (2007) to determine how teachers were responding to gifted student needs in the standards-based environment of today's classrooms. The research grew to include minority and underrepresented students. While it cannot be generalized it does give significant insight into one state's gifted program. Through interviews, focus groups, and document review, researchers determined that South Carolina had increased the amount of students identified as gifted, but increased funding was regulated to teacher salaries and not to the gifted programs. Teachers are not fully prepared to teach gifted students

with only a six-hour endorsement requirement. This just scratches the surface of gifted students' needs and characteristics (Swanson, 2007).

In 1995, Tomlinson, Callahan, Moon, Tomchin, Landrum, Imbeau, Hunsaker, and Eiss, conducted a two-year study on pre-service teacher preparation to meet the needs of gifted students. The results indicated that pre-service teachers acknowledged students had diverse needs. When these teachers began student teaching they were interviewed, and discussed differentiation in the classroom as an overall goal; however, differentiation was not a focus. Instead, teacher-led classroom activities for all students were the norm. This approach was chosen in an attempt to keep the classroom effectively managed, oftentimes at the encouragement of the mentoring teacher or university representative (Tomlinson et al., 1995).

Bangor et al. (2010) and Berman et al. (2012) both conducted qualitative studies researching general teacher education candidates', or as each study stated pre-service teachers', knowledge and understanding of gifted students. Berman et al. (2012) discovered that pre-service teachers do not have knowledge of how gifted students learn differently and that they need additional instruction in order to be adequately prepared. Bangor et al. (2010) began their study with the premise that students in a teacher education program do not have knowledge of how to teach gifted students. The subjects participated in a course as well as a simulated classroom on Saturdays. The results indicated pre-service teachers gained knowledge of their own perceptions of gifted students, gifted characteristics, as well as how to best teach them in heterogeneous classroom (Bangor et al, 2010). Both studies were qualitative and cannot be generalized, but do add to the overall body of knowledge on the subject adding depth.

Drain (2008) conducted a dissertation study on elementary teachers' attitudes and practices of differentiation for gifted students. The results indicated none or infrequent differentiation and

the strategies used were often not in the best interest of gifted students. This information can lead one to the same question asked in 2003 by the director of the Center of Gifted Studies and Talent Development, Cheryll Adams: "Are we moving forward or spinning our wheels?" (p. 116). Gifted education teachers are mandated in some states, including South Carolina, to have an endorsement for gifted education before teaching. Regular education core teachers are not required to be gifted endorsed, although they will likely have gifted students in their classrooms (Swanson & Lord, 2011). There are indications that gifted students are not having needs met, as teachers maintain the use of textbook rote knowledge in order to prepare for standardized testing in all subjects, including social studies.

State of History Education

The United States is entrenched in a belief in civic duty and virtue as a part of the American identity. The Constitution and the passage of time have brought all men and women over the age of 18 the right to vote, historically considered a part of American civic duty. Today students are provided a civic education through Social Studies classes - a 20th century concept. Within social studies, students are taught history, geography, economics, anthropology, government, and civics. Teachers need to be up to date on history and current learning theories while contending with conflicting information from popular culture. Other disciplines such as math and English do not have to contend with these issues (Wineburg, 2001).

At the same time, a survey of students in 2002 at 45 American universities showed four out of five graduating seniors scored a D or F on a set of test questions taken from a high school history curriculum (Wilson, 2007). This survey followed the 1987 study conducted by the National Assessment of Education Progress, which showed that 8,000 eleventh graders could only answer 54% of the questions on United States history correctly. Subsequently, the Bradley

Commission on History in Schools was a response to what was viewed as a quantity and quality inadequacy of history education (Yarema, 2002).

Studies indicate that the textbook has remained the central focus of most history classrooms. As Sewall wrote in 2000, "textbooks are the draft horse of the social studies curriculum. They are familiar efficient, portable, and relatively cheap. They provide an organized sequence of ideas and information. Textbooks structure teaching and learning" (as cited in Lavere, 2008, p. 3). This trend appears to continue in classrooms, despite efforts to turn teachers away from its use as the major component for history curriculum. Many history teachers, particularly middle school teachers, do not have and are not required to have a degree in history. This fact may lead many to utilize textbooks which synthesize and integrate the material because teachers are unsure of the material being taught (Yarema, 2002).

Since the inception of No Child Left Behind and standards based teaching for all students, middle school social studies teachers are now required to teach vast amounts of information in a small amount of time, thus leading teachers to give as much factual information as possible and not develop historical critical thinking (Conklin, 2011; Guidry et al., 2010; Kingsley & Boone, 2008). In one case study from the United States Midwest, it was discovered that social studies was being pre-empted in the primary grades. The same case study indicated that upper grades focused on using the textbook, particularly emphasizing literacy skills, with an average loss of 76 minutes for social studies instruction time (Boyle-Biase, Hsu, Johnson, Serriere, & Stewart, 2008). While it is not possible to generalize this study, as it is a qualitative case study with only 13 participants in the Midwest, according to a study by the Thomas Fordham Institute (2011), most United States history standards are mediocre at best and being placed on the back-burner in favor of subjects generally considered more important.

Through a national survey, in which 1,051 randomly selected elementary and middle school teachers were selected, it was discovered that teachers spent less than four hours a week on social studies in 70% of the classrooms, with half integrating social studies with the language arts program (Leming, Ellington, & Schug, 2006). The survey was self-reporting without actual classroom attendance of the researcher to observe and monitor the amount of time given to social studies instruction. It does continue to give credence to the belief that at this juncture students are being required to learn more historical facts in less class time, retaining less information overall and not developing critical thinking skills within historical concepts. They are instead learning textbook based facts. In essence, middle school students' cognitive abilities are increasing, while at the same time the demand for higher-order thinking skills in the classroom is decreasing (Conklin, 2008). Middle school gifted students are often not provided critical thinking lessons in the history classroom, although it could be accomplished through differentiating content and instruction, (Kaplan, 2002; Troxclair, 2000; Van Tassel-Baska, 2008) performance assessments, (Moon, 2002) project-based learning, (Diffily, 2002) and primary source based lessons for historical critical thinking skills (Bickford, 2010; Salinas et al., 2011; Stoddard, 2008; Wineburg, 2012).

Historical critical thinking skills. While social studies in the public school classroom has seemingly been losing importance throughout the past decade, particularly since the passage of NCLB, there has been increased research activity in the field discussing historical critical thinking skills through the use of primary sources with the increased access to sources via the Internet (Salinas et al., 2011). Driving this concept is the belief that history, the driving class of social studies, should not consist of rote memorization or simple answers to complex history (Lindquist, 2012), but analysis and interpretation of primary sources similar to historians' work

in an effort to engage "more humane and tolerant citizens who could also think critically" (Stoddard, 2008, p. 153). A study conducted by Martell and Hashimoto-Martell (2011) and presented at the American Educational Research Association (AERA), included 94 participants, from a diverse population, and results indicated that utilizing critical thinking of history will increase students' interest in history and non-White students' identification with historical figures.

Researchers are interested in knowing what critical thinking skills are and if they are introduced and cultivated in the classroom. Critical thinking is debated as a nature versus nurture concept, as well as subject specific versus general definition. It has been defined in a variety of ways, with the psychologist Glaser (1942) defining it as a specific thought-process and application of skills to solve problems (Behar-Horenstein & Niu, 2011)

Facione began publishing information on critical thinking in 1992 and has continued to do so over the past two decades. According to his latest publication, critical thinking skills are "thinking that has a purpose (proving a point, interpreting what something means, solving a problem)" (Facione, 2011, p. 4). Rudd, in 2007, discussed the various definitions of critical thinking that were presented in the 1990s and determined that the American Philosophical Association in 1990 gave the most clarity through the following definition:

We understand critical thinking (CT) to be purposeful, self-regulatory judgment which results in interpretation, analysis, evaluation, and inference, as well as explanation of the evidential, conceptual, methodological, criteriological, or contextual considerations upon which that judgment is based. CT is essential as a tool of inquiry. As such, CT is a liberating force in education and a powerful resource in one's personal and civic life. While not synonymous with good

thinking, CT is a pervasive and self-rectifying human phenomenon. The ideal critical thinker is habitually inquisitive, well-informed, trustful of reason, open-minded, flexible, fair-minded in evaluation, honest in facing personal biases, prudent in making judgments, willing to reconsider, clear about issues, orderly in complex matters, diligent in seeking relevant information, reasonable in the selection of criteria, focused in inquiry, and persistent in seeking results which are as precise as the subject and the circumstances of inquiry permit. Thus educating strong critical thinkers means working toward this ideal. It combines developing CT skills with nurturing those dispositions which consistently yield useful insights and which are the basis of a rational and democratic society. (Facione, 2011, p. 26)

Rudd (2007) also determined that critical thinking skills and higher order thinking skills are not equivalent. There are particular traits of critical thinkers such as independent thinking, intellectual empathy, and intellectual responsibility that are utilized consciously to guide the thinking process. This definition should transition to historical thinking skills, particularly in the K-12 history classroom, as these are the formative times when critical thinking skills are established.

In 2000, Paul and Elder conducted a study of public and private universities in California and determined that professors listed critical thinking as a primary goal. They believed themselves to be teaching critical thinking; however, they could not define critical thinking, explain on what standards it was based, describe how to teach it, or discuss traits essential to its use. The study however was not presented in enough detail so that it could be replicated in any other area of the country. The authors indicated what they believed to be necessary to teach

critical thinking skills in reference to civic education; however, a clear definition of critical thinking skills was not provided.

Stoddard (2010) explored citizenship, critical thinking skills, and added the use of primary sources in his case study. Stoddard (2010) defined historical thinking as the "active engagement in meaningful sense-making from the traces of history (i.e. primary sources) and historical accounts (i.e. secondary or tertiary sources) that we encounter and should include asking why something happened versus the mere fact of its happening" (p. 154). He determined that teachers were limited in teaching citizenship, critical thinking skills, and primary sources because of a disconnection between pedagogical decision-making and their own ideological beliefs and goals for students. His study was a case study involving two teachers and thus cannot be generalized.

Phipps, (2010), through a qualitative dissertation study, found similar findings in that a teacher's personal beliefs about education and citizenship influence how and what he or she teaches. Stoddard (2010) discussed the use of primary sources for critical thinking skills, explaining that his study focused on historical media, placing primary and secondary sources, film, textbooks, and websites as one large group. This is problematic because primary and secondary sources are not often found together in the same grouping and they are seen as vastly different.

Salinas et al. (2011) conducted a study to determine how pre-service teachers utilized technology to enhance historical thinking and primary sources. The researchers wanted to determine if pre-service teachers understood new technology and how to create new practices within teaching, or if they would continue to replicate existing practices. Historical thinking was defined as the "ability to reflect, synthesize, and construct understandings of history based on

evidence" (Salinas et al., 2011, p. 186), which once again demonstrates a lack of consensus on the definition for historical thinking skills. The term primary source was not adequately defined. The authors only repeatedly indicated the use of a primary source website. The qualitative study results indicated that the pre-service teachers did have a good knowledge of both historical thinking and primary documents including how to utilize technology to find and use primary sources; however, this study did not include in-service teachers. Martell (2011) conducted a case study of first year teachers to investigate their use of historical thinking skills and determined that classroom discipline and content coverage were both barriers to engaging students in historical thinking - aspects the pre-service teachers from the study conducted by Salinas et al. (2011) may not have encountered.

Primary sources and usage. The studies conducted by Stoddard (2010) and Salinas et al. (2011) indicate there is discrepancy as to how to define primary sources, with Stoddard indicating primary and secondary sources to be placed in the same category or historical media, and Salinas et. al. providing no true definition. The Library of Congress website defines primary sources as original documents and objects created during a particular time period. The site goes on to describe how to utilize primary sources in the classroom including how to assess how students apply critical thinking and analysis skills to primary sources. The term primary sources, other than to state objects, is not well defined. Teaching History is a website maintained by the Department of Education and according to the site, primary sources include documents, maps, music, art, photography, and original video (2010-2012).

Primary sources have "untapped potential for expanding and deepening the reading experiences of elementary and middle grade students" (Morgan & Rasinski, 2012, p. 584). This idea began in the 1960s in an attempt to reform history education (Weber, 2012) and has

continued to grow within the social studies classroom, with Wineburg as one of the forerunners. In an attempt to address the low achievement in social studies, studies have been conducted on the use of primary sources and historical thinking skills. Martell presented a study at the AERA 2011 annual meeting in which results showed the expanded coverage of state standards as being a barrier to critical thinking skills through primary sources. The belief that students using primary sources will engage in historical analysis and this analysis will enhance critical thinking skills and bring about a better understanding of the subject of history (Gradwell, 2010), as well as support teachers trying to meet state standards overall has prevailed (Libresco, 2007; Morgan & Rasinski, 2012).

Primary sources and historical critical thinking skills were approached from the students' perspective in a study conducted by Tally and Goldenberg (2005). Students in social studies classrooms with teachers who had a frequent use of primary sources were asked to analyze documents including photographs, maps, quilts, music, speeches, and cartoons provided through a computer based program. The results indicated an overall higher interest in history classes and student ability to apply historical thinking skills without prior direct teaching of an historical era, with students in Advanced Placement or Honors classes showing more aptitude than other students, although all students benefitted (Tally & Goldenberg, 2005). Similar findings were found by Endacott (2010) in which qualitative data were gathered from students suggesting that primary source usage led to higher cognitive understanding.

Gradwell (2010) utilized an interpretive case study and approached the concept from the teacher's perspective. The teacher described in the study was chosen because of prior knowledge of her use of primary sources in what was believed to be an attempt to develop critical thinking skills in a heterogeneously grouped eighth-grade social studies classroom that

included gifted, regular education, and special education students. Documents, photographs, artwork, poetry, musical recordings, and firsthand accounts were all types of primary sources used by the teacher of the case study (Gradwell, 2010).

Gradwell (2010) discovered that primary sources were being used to help students think critically for the overall purpose of producing good citizens who can function well in a democratic society. The teacher in the study had both great knowledge of the subject taught as well as guiding purpose in the use of primary sources, leading Gradwell to conclude that perhaps this is what is needed for more social studies teachers to utilize primary sources effectively. The conclusion, however, cannot be generalized to other teachers and does not address a subset of the population in the schools, specifically gifted students. Gradwell's study was similar to qualitative studies conducted by Phipps (2010) and Swan and Hicks (2007) that presented continuing evidence that the teacher's own perception of citizenship does influence how and why a teacher teaches. In addition, a qualitative study conducted by Salinas et al. (2011) suggested that the greater the working knowledge of historical thinking that a teacher has will influence the degree of use of primary sources in the classroom.

Paradoxically to Salinas et al. (2011), Yarema (2002) discussed through a literature review, studies by Nash (1991) and Loewen (1995) that indicated history teachers used the textbook more often than primary sources because of the teachers' and students' lack of historical knowledge. The lack of historical achievement in middle and high school U.S. students was presented by a study conducted by the National Assessment of Education Progress in 1987. In the review of the literature, Yarema (2002) determined that new approaches to teaching history were being encouraged to increase content knowledge and interest. The various approaches included current events, literary works, field trips, and utilizing primary sources such

as narratives, diaries, newspapers, photographs, songs, cartoons, and paintings. Primary sources have actually been recommended as far back as 1892 by the National Education Association's Committee of Ten to teach history more effectively in the K-12 classroom (Yarema, 2002).

The literature review conducted by Yarema (2002) coincided with the passing of No Child Left Behind (2001), the reason many cite for the rote memorization style of history classes found today. Teachers in a need to address hundreds of years of historical information in a short school year end up in a "breathless rush from point to point fatal to rigorous thinking" (Hampel, 1985, p. 364). Subsequent studies and papers have been published indicating the use of primary sources for critical thinking skills, with many considering Wineburg the leader on the pursuit of historical critical thinking skills.

In 1991, Wineburg published his qualitative study in which he wanted to determine what made the thinking skills of an expert historian different from a novice historian. In his study, Wineburg had history professors and students use the think aloud method with the same primary documents and then compared how the two groups thought through the information in order to formulate measurable historical critical thinking skills. His study has been referenced and is a basis for many subsequent ideas and beliefs that history can enhance the critical thinking of students.

Ensign (1997) stated advanced reading material (primary sources) can lead gifted learners into thinking critically about a subject area such as history. In 2008, Wooden utilized Wineburg's 2001 study of pre-service teachers to conduct a study of sixth graders' use of primary sources. The results of the study indicated a similar finding to Wineburg's, in that students need to be taught how to analyze primary sources instead of looking superficially.

Furthermore it was determined that teachers need to understand how to choose primary sources.

The study did not address gifted students nor did it contain a large sample size.

Wilcox et al. (2010) published a qualitative study and inferred from the study that music as a primary source could be linked to academic achievement; however, no empirical evidence was provided. Little et al. (2007) published an article on the study of curriculum effectiveness in social studies, specifically looking at a curriculum project funded from the Javits Act. The study supports the idea that if higher level process and specific conceptual thinking activities with strong content, including primary sources, are integrated into the curriculum, then students will achieve stronger gains as a direct knowledge-based structure. Secondly, it showed that this type of curriculum can promote gains for students who are either gifted or non-gifted. However, the authors discussed a need for more research on gifted student learning in social studies, as the overall sample size of the study was large, but the sample of gifted students was quite small. There was also a discussion of the need to compare homogeneous to heterogeneous classes for gifted student learning.

The National Council for Social Studies has monthly lesson plans on the use of primary sources to enhance the classroom, particularly problem solving and critical thinking skills. Oftentimes teachers fail to utilize such information, relying solely on rote memorization. Although in a small qualitative study, Fillpot (2012) determined that students utilizing primary sources are only limited by the curriculum, not age, and gifted and talented students should be given greater attention with the use of primary sources for historical thinking. Gifted students need the primary source to make a connection to the past (Morris, 2008). In both studies by Fillpot (2012) and Morris (2008) the samples were elementary students and did not include gifted middle school students, nor did it include teachers.

Middle school students today have a greater knowledge and ability to use visual media than all past generations (Thaler, 2013). This visual media fluency can lend itself to the social studies classroom, particularly with the use of primary sources. Historical primary sources are most often visual, such as photographs, videos, documents, and personal letters. Bickford (2010) utilized this belief in his qualitative study of developing historical critical thinking skills in middle school students through studying and creating political cartoons, a visual primary source. By taking this approach, students were given the opportunity to engage in learning history's complex nature (Bickford, 2010).

Critical Thinking Skills in Social Studies Gifted Classrooms

Gifted students have been shown to enhance their higher order thinking skills through specific units of study in a content area, with inquiry being the most powerful form of teaching gifted students (Van Tassel-Baska, 2008). Critical thinking skills addressed in the gifted classroom are extremely important during the current era of standards-based teaching (Swanson & Lord, 2011). Erikson (2007) promotes a concept-based curriculum to develop a thinking classroom. One important curriculum concept in the history classroom is the use of primary sources. Primary sources are viewed by several researchers as a resource to enhance the social studies curriculum and increase critical thinking skills in the social studies classroom (Gradwell, 2010; Tally & Goldenberg, 2005; Van Tassel-Baska, 2008; Wineburg, 2001).

The Department of Education of South Carolina utilized the College of William and Mary Center for Gifted Education to develop research based curriculum in content areas for gifted students, including social studies (Swanson & Lord, 2011). The state Department of Education also developed *The South Carolina Best Practices Manual for Gifted Education* (2001) and the *Academically Gifted and Talented Curriculum and Instruction* (2004), providing

information on differentiated instruction and support services that provide teacher development with a common language around South Carolina gifted education (Swanson & Lord, 2011).

The College of William and Mary has developed a curriculum specifically for social studies and gifted students. Greater curriculum challenge is one of the most frequent and consistent needs expressed by experts in the field of gifted education (Little, 2012). A quasi-experimental research study was conducted through the university to determine if students who used the specific social studies curriculum intervention would outperform other students in concept and content knowledge, as well as critical thinking skills. The curriculum intervention included in-depth study of influential eras in history with an emphasis on primary sources.

Teachers were also expected to show change toward critical thinking learning after being trained with the curriculum intervention (Van Tassel-Baska, 2008).

The personal beliefs that a teacher may possess about student cognitive ability has been shown to influence a student's outcome in the classroom. In a qualitative study conducted in conjunction with a teacher education course by Conklin, Hawley, Powell, and Ritter (2010), it was determined that given instruction on ability while learning to teach can enhance a teacher's expectations for a student, particularly in the middle school social studies classroom while using primary sources. While this was a qualitative study with only 17 participants in one geographic area of the US, it cannot be generalized, but does add to the body of information and literature on the subject.

The outcome of the study at The College of William and Mary indicated the hypothesis was correct with students and teachers using the curriculum intervention showing more gains than the control group. It was particularly successful with gifted students to develop critical thinking skills (Van Tassel-Baska, 2008). These skills are a major goal of American education

in an effort to help students learn how to form well-reasoned solutions to problems through analysis.

Summary

In the literature, research tends to focus on gifted students' needs for critical thinking skills and enhanced curriculum or the need to develop critical thinking skills in students in social studies through the use of primary sources. It is almost as if some studies are at cross-purposes and not viewing a link that should be a natural focus. This will need to be addressed as education turns from state standards to the Common Core State Standards. Standards that "do not define the nature of advanced work for students who meet the Standards prior to the end of high school" and "do not define the intervention methods or materials necessary to support students who are well below or well above grade-level expectations" (National Governors Association Center for Best Practices [NGA Center] & Council of Chief State School Officers [CCSSO], 2010b, p. 6).

The literature has provided qualitative studies on the use of primary sources in the history classroom for critical skill development, as well as a need for critical skill development in gifted students. A lack of use of primary sources in the classroom in deference to a textbook has also been a recurring theme throughout the literature. There is also a lack of research that dealt with the middle school social studies classroom. High school students were the focus of most of the research, although middle school is an appropriate age to begin the use of primary sources indepth. There is also a lack of literature on middle school teachers' ideas on the three concepts as a whole: gifted students, primary sources, and critical thinking skills. Middle school is often the school-age in which gifted students are given the least amount of enhanced curriculum. This lack of focus and information is what was addressed in the current qualitative study.

CHAPTER THREE: METHODOLOGY

Introduction

Social studies courses are considered an integral part in the collective effort to create a productive democratic society. Students' knowledge of history and social studies concepts has significantly diminished (Thomas Ford Institute, 2011, Wilson, 2007, Yarema, 2002). They also struggle with critical thinking skills development. Teachers and researchers are constantly trying to find the best way to convey historical information in a manner that will cause students to retain the information and become critical thinkers with regard to history. Primary sources are an effective tool in accomplishing this task. This study investigated perceptions of current teacher knowledge and usage of critical thinking skills, particularly with regard to gifted students. The chapter contains information on how and where the research questions involving primary sources and critical skills assessment were answered.

Design

The qualitative approach was chosen for this study in order to gain insight into the knowledge and practices of middle school social studies teachers. The use of a qualitative study allows openness, depth, and discovery without predetermined factors and categories. The depth of study provides rich meaning to the phenomenon researched (Gall, Gall, & Borg, 2007). Qualitative research describes the data in words and pictures, not numbers. The data are rich and examined through a lens that assumes all information is important. The theory presented in the study is determined from the bottom up and not the top down as analysis of the data and commonalities determined lead one to a theory. The perspectives of the participants are valued and seen from a holistic approach (Bogdan & Biklen, 2007).

According to Gall et al. (2007), a phenomenon is a process, event, person, or other item of interest. This qualitative study utilizes the phenomenological approach derived from the philosophy movement of the late 19th century with Husserl as its founder (Barker, Pistrang, & Elliott, 2002). Husserl (1913) described phenomenology as "the science of the essence of consciousness" (para. 33). In the practice of phenomenology, a person will "classify, describe, interpret, and analyze structures of experiences in ways that answer to our own experience" (Smith, 2013, p. 19). The phenomenological inquiry begins with silence in order to grasp the phenomenon or what is being studied by bracketing the information. It involves the description of common meaning from several individuals' lived experiences. Phenomenology is used to gain entry to an understanding of the world of the informants, or participants, in which the researcher acts as if "they do not know what it means and study it to find out what is actually taken for granted" (Bogdan & Biklen, 2007, p. 25). This is in order for the participants' voices to be heard. As Moustakas (1994) stated, the aim of phenomenological research is to determine what an experience means to a person and to have them provide a description of this experience.

For the purpose of this study, an interpretative phenomenological analysis is used to generate lower and higher order categories from the data (Barker et al., 2002). The interpretative approach includes symbolic interpretation. People develop common definitions to a situation when experiences and problems are similar. According to Blumer (1969), symbolic interpretation is a distinct approach toward the study of human conduct, with the first premise being that human beings act toward things, such as physical objects, guiding ideals, schools, and activities, based on the meaning these said things have to them. This study investigated teachers' perceptions of critical thinking skills, gifted education, and primary sources. Within the theory of symbolic interpretation, the actions of the teachers in the classroom developed because of the

meaning they have given to critical thinking skills, gifted education, and primary sources, and the interaction that took place between the teachers and the gifted students.

Research Questions

The following questions were used to guide the study:

- What are the educational backgrounds of middle school social studies teachers qualifying them to teach social studies and gifted students?
- What do middle school social studies teachers understand to be primary sources and how do they use them in the classroom?
- What are critical thinking skills and how can social studies and primary sources be used to enhance these skills in gifted students?

Setting

The study took place at a mid-sized school district that encompasses a county with a population of 62,000 in the Midlands area of South Carolina. The ethnic breakdown for the county at the time of the study was 72% White, 25% African-American, and 4.6% Hispanic. The county has an 85% high school graduation rate with 19% of the population attaining a bachelor's degree or higher. The school district contains four middle schools with a varied population. The county is considered a rural county; however, it is in close proximity to the capital of South Carolina and the area has grown significantly in the past decade. This has resulted in two of the middle schools reflecting a suburban population. The county seat area contains one middle school with a higher minority population and more urban issues and the fourth school is mostly rural. This variation reflects many aspects of schools found throughout the country, and teachers and leaders most often reflect their organization.

This school district contains a pull-out gifted program that until the 2013-2014 schoolyear serviced third through eighth graders. The pull-out program for over a decade was housed at two of the middle schools, with teachers serving an average of two grade levels. Beginning in the 2013-2014 school year, the pull-out program began servicing third through seventh graders, with eighth graders receiving either or both English I and Algebra I as enrichment for their gifted status. Instead of busing the students to two of the four middle schools as previously done, a minimum of one teacher is assigned to each school in the district to service gifted students in that school, and so oftentimes one teacher will service sixth and seventh graders in the pull-out gifted program. The eighth-grade students are required to complete a research project and presentation and if they do so, may take the long-standing trip to Washington, D.C. in the spring. These changes were made in order to save on budget needs. At the same time, changes were made in regards to the curriculum so that the gifted program aligned itself to the new Common Core Standards, as well as science and social studies standards for the state. Teachers who would like to teach within the program must be trained through two courses mandated by the state department of education. The courses are offered at various state institutes, and in some previous years through the district itself.

The two middle schools that housed the program until the 2013-2014 school-year have a distinctly higher percentage of participants in the program than the other two middle schools. There are also two to three elementary schools in the district that always have a higher percentage of students qualify for the program. However, in the past several years the district has made concerted efforts to include a diverse population more representative of the district's population.

One of the four middle schools for the area is the school in which special needs children are bused throughout the year. There are five self-contained special education classes and two resource pull-out classes for learning disabilities. All middle schools contain two to three administrators, one speech therapist, 20 to 25 support staff, one media specialists, two guidance counselors, one school nurse, one itinerant English as a second language (ESOL) teacher and one school psychologist. The ESOL teachers and school psychologists are assigned to several elementary schools throughout the year.

Participants

Sampling in qualitative research is generally purposive. In other words, participants are selected because they suit the needs of a study and will likely be "information-rich" (Gall et al., 2007). This is done in order to provide "maximum insight and understanding" to what is being studied (Ary et al., 2010, p 428). It is not done to achieve population validity (Gall et al., 2007). This study utilized purposive sampling with maximum variation sampling involving nine participants. Maximum variation sampling uses multiple cases that exhibit a range of characteristic variations for two purposes: The purposes were to document the range of variation as well as to determine common themes and patterns (Gall et al, 2007). The use of maximum variation sampling allowed the study to determine differences and commonalities among the participants studied (Ary et al., 2010).

The participants chosen through this process are seventh- and eighth-grade social studies teachers in the district. The majority of the teachers are from the regional area originally. Their education background is varied. Some of the participants taught elementary school prior to middle school and majored in elementary education, while other participants come from a secondary education background and majored in the subject area to be taught, such as history.

Procedures

Written permission was obtained from the school district to allow district personnel to participate in the study. This signed permission letter was attached to the Institutional Review Board (IRB) application. The IRB process included an application with specifics on how participants and the information they provide was used in the study. Details were needed for the IRB application in order to ensure all regulations found in The Belmont Report were followed. This approval was imperative for a study that involved human subjects.

Institutional Review Board approval was given for the study in the spring of 2014 and can be found in Appendix B. Immediately following IRB approval, a letter via personal email was sent to all eligible participants (i.e. seventh- and eighth-grade social studies teachers) within the school district. Teachers were given information on how to contact the researcher for questions about the study. Nine teachers in the district were contacted and all agreed to participate in the study. A copy of the written letter of informed consent that was signed by participants may be found in Appendix C.

After participants agreed to be a part of the study they were given a pseudonym. There was one written record of which participant corresponded to each pseudonym, and it was locked in a file cabinet that only I have access. After participants were aligned with a pseudonym, an interview time was arranged with each participant. All interviews were digitally recorded and transcribed within the MaxQDA program. The digital recordings and documents were secured on the password protected program and each participant's pseudonym was used. After the interviews were conducted and transcribed, coding of the interviews was conducted through the MaxQDA software program in order to determine themes and topics before completing field observations. Coding is explained in more detail beginning in the "Data Analysis" section.

At the completion of the interview, a survey on Gifted Education (Appendix D) was emailed to the participants for completion, and a time was arranged for a field observation in the classroom. The survey was conducted through Survey Monkey and upon completion an email notification was sent. After interviews and surveys were completed, an observation of a lesson taught by each teacher was conducted in the classroom. The observations were conducted on the teachers only and did not involve direct observation, contact, or speaking with the students in the classroom, and as such did not require permission from the students' parents or guardians. The purpose of the classroom observation was to see how the teachers utilized primary sources in the classroom. After interviews were conducted, surveys gathered, and observations conducted, data were analyzed and triangulated. Through this process, a focus was formed through the data analysis and is discussed in detail in Chapter Four.

Personal Biography

From 2004-2008 and then 2011-2013, I taught middle school social studies, specifically seventh grade. In 2008, I completed the requirements for a gifted and talented endorsement. There is a three year lull during the time I stayed home with my two children. In the summer of 2013, I completed requirements to add Advanced Placement - Human Geography endorsement to my teaching license. Beginning in the 2013, I have taught ninth-grade social studies, specifically Honors World Geography and AP Human Geography at the high school that is not the feeder school for the middle school where I previously taught. The participants of the research study are potential former colleagues of mine; however, I was not nor will be in any type of leadership role with any of the participants.

I chose this study and the use of a qualitative research design to understand how teachers use and view primary sources and their knowledge of gifted students. In my experience, primary

sources are a necessary aspect of teaching history, but too often textbook teaching is all that is being utilized, with the development of critical thinking skills not seen as a viable objective in the middle school classroom. I have observed that gifted students are also often being left in a lock-step concept without teachers trying to increase their critical thinking skills, and I see this potentially becoming more so as we transition to the Common Core Standards. I am interested in teachers' perceptions of how historical critical thinking can be taught to the gifted students in the classroom and if primary sources are a part of that process. This interest has increased as I now teach Advanced Placement coursework to ninth graders and many of these students have great difficulty with the curriculum framework particularly the need to critically think about an aspect and not just present a basic factual answer.

Data Collection

After IRB approval and participant agreement, data collection was done through three methods: survey, interviews, and teacher observations. Three methods were chosen to ensure quality and rigor of the information, as well as data triangulation. According to Gall et al., (2007), data should be collected through various methods so that findings can be corroborated across the variants to achieve data triangulation. If they are not consistent results it provides a framework in which to reconcile the data.

In this study, interviews were first conducted with participants and digitally recorded for accuracy. The interviews provided a way to ask multiple questions on the subjects: gifted education, social studies education, use of primary sources, and critical thinking skills. To further discover opinions on gifted education, a survey was sent for all participants to complete. This survey was provided by Dr. Betsy McCoach and may be found in Appendix D. Surveys were sent via email to participants. Lastly, classroom observations were conducted in order to

observe how the teacher implemented primary sources as discussed in the interview. Video and audio recordings were not utilized in the observations, but merely researcher observations of the teacher.

Interviews

The goal of the phenomenological researcher is to describe things as they are. The goal is not to describe how they understand the phenomenon from their own past experiences (Gall et al., 2007). To accomplish this goal a semi-structured approach to the interviews is best because it allows for an interview guide to be used while maintaining latitude to pursue various topics determined during the interview (Bogdan & Biklen, 2007). This approach includes one long interview in order to gain a comprehensive description of the phenomenon studied (Gall et al., 2007). The guiding questions for the interview follow as well as Appendix E.

Guided interview questions.

 Share your experiences you have had teaching middle school social studies to gifted students.

Possible probes: What are some of the challenges and rewards of teaching gifted students? How do you address the needs of middle school gifted students? How do you perceive yourself as a social studies teacher for gifted students? How does your school provide gifted education services?

2. What do you feel qualifies you to teach middle school social studies as well as gifted students?

Possible probes: What coursework have you had on teaching gifted and talented students? Do you have any personal experience outside of the classroom with gifted students? Was your major in school in one of the social studies disciplines?

- 3. What are your beliefs about how gifted students learn?
 - Possible probes: How do you teach gifted students and is it different than the non-gifted? What is the reasoning for teaching gifted students differently?
- 4. How would you describe a primary source and its use in the classroom?
 Possible Probes: What do you consider to be a primary source? Where do you find primary sources? Why do you think primary sources are important for the social studies classroom? When making a lesson where do you find the information you use?
- 5. Describe critical thinking skills in the social studies classroom.

Possible probes: How would you define critical thinking skills? Do you think using primary sources in the social studies classroom could be used to develop critical thinking skills in middle school students? As a middle school social studies teacher, have you thought about a link between primary sources and critical thinking skills in the classroom?

Research has shown there is discrepancy across the country and within states as to what gifted education is and how teachers are prepared to teach gifted students (Burney, 2008; McCain & Pfeiffer, 2012; Sternberg & Davidson, 2005). Interview questions one, two and three were used to determine the teachers' knowledge of what it means to be gifted, as well as how gifted students' needs should be addressed in the regular education classroom. Current research indicates a discrepancy on how teachers address the needs of gifted students in the classroom (Kearney, 2005; McCoy & Rader, 2008; O'Reilly & Matt, 2012; Troxclair, 2000). Interview questions four and five were used to determine what the classroom teachers understand and know about primary sources, their usage, and critical thinking skills. These concepts are all addressed in the literature, but studies are not often specific with middle school students,

particularly gifted (Lindquist, 2012; Morgan & Rasinski, 2012; Salinas et. al., 2011; Stoddard, 2010; & Tally & Goldenberg, 2005).

The interviews were not piloted before beginning the study. There was a limited amount of possible participants in the district, and to pilot would have led to a lack of participants for the study. All participants were interviewed over a three-week period. Notes were not used during the interview in order to maintain more of a conversation; however, thoughts were written down immediately after each interview occurred. One interview was conducted in a local restaurant at the request of the participant. All others were conducted in the school setting afterschool or during participants' planning periods. Each interview was recorded through the program MaxQDA app on a personal, password-protected iPad. After each interview was concluded, it was uploaded to the program on a password-protected personal computer and subsequently deleted from the iPad.

Survey

Surveys have a variety of uses in qualitative research. Surveys can be utilized to choose participants for a research study, as exemplified by King (2012). Surveys can be used to determine a person's perspective on a subject. Most often this is done through Likert-type surveys allowing participants to select statements based on a continuum from strongly agree to strongly disagree, measuring people's beliefs on a subject via a scale (Ary et al., 2010). McCoach and Seigel (2007) utilized a Likert survey to determine predictions of teachers' attitudes toward gifted students. A survey to determine the perceptions teachers have about gifted students was used in this study.

The Perception of Gifted Education Instrument was developed by Dr. Betsy McCoach and Kelly O'Shea. Through correspondence with Dr. Betsy McCoach, I was given a copy and

permission to use the survey she and Kelly O'Shea produced in which the Gagne and Nadeau instrument Opinions about the Gifted and their Education (1991) was streamlined. Based on results of an exploratory factor analysis and reliability analyses, McCoach and O'Shea (2010) created three subscales within the Instrument. The instrument was analyzed through confirmatory factor analysis, and based on the scores three subscales were created for further analysis. The first subscale, support, has a Cronbach's alpha reliability of .76. The second subscale, elitism, has a Cronbach's alpha reliability of .80. The third subscale, school acceleration, has a Cronbach's alpha reliability of .71 (McCoach & Siegle, 2007).

All participants were provided a link to the survey on the website SurveyMonkey after agreeing to participate. The link for the survey was provided via email. The survey is a Likert-type survey and the answers provided by the participants were analyzed qualitatively to determine pre-conceived perceptions about gifted education. Each question was analyzed to determine the percentage of people who chose each choice. This qualitative information provided more in-depth knowledge of the participants' views about gifted education, in particular comparing them to other special needs programs. A copy of the instrument can be found in Appendix D.

Observations

The goal of observations in qualitative research is to "understand complex interactions in natural settings" using words and narratives to describe the setting and behaviors (Ary et al., 2010, p. 431). One observation of each participant was conducted. Events were recorded as they occurred without an attempt to alter the situation in any way, or nonparticipant observations (Ary et al., 2010). Field notes, the most common method to record data collected, were used during observations. There are two components to field notes: descriptive, or a description of the

setting, people, and account of events, and reflective, or the observer's personal feelings and impressions of events (Ary et al., 2010; Bogdan & Biklen, 2007). Observers should include verbal portraits of research participants and physical settings that are detailed and concrete (Gall et al., 2007). Boyle-Baise et al. (2008) and Gradwell (2010) both conducted research in the social studies classroom in which observations of teacher lessons in the classrooms were conducted where field notes were collected and followed by an interview. The current study utilized a similar format with an observation in the classroom with field notes containing data that were then analyzed. The template for field notes may be viewed in Appendix F. The field notes did not use a recording device, but only detailed written notes of the lesson observed. Within the detailed written notes the descriptive aspects of what was observed, as well as observer comments for my different thoughts were included (Bogdan & Biklen, 2007). The data collected were descriptions of lessons taught by a middle school social studies teacher in which primary sources are included in the lesson with an attempt to have gifted students engage in critical thinking skills.

Data Analysis

According to Bogdan and Biklen (2007), beginning researchers should approach data analysis by borrowing parts of analysis-in-the-field strategy as well as formal analysis and interpretation strategy when the data have all been collected. With this in mind, analysis and interpretation in the field was utilized so that the study was focused and narrowed during the data collection, as well as including observer's comments during data collection (Bogdan & Biklen, 2007).

The constant comparative method involves inductive category coding through constant comparison of all data for a theme (Ary et al., 2010). Data are examined for distinct

characteristics and grouped with similar other concepts. Each time there are no other similar categories a new one is generated. This process is constant and categories change, merge, or are omitted until all data have been analyzed and categorized and themes have emerged (Ary et al., 2010).

This study analyzed data through the constant comparative method, which is designed for multi-data sources. With this method, after each form of data collection (i.e. survey, interviews and observations) the data were analyzed with a theory developed until all research had been completed (Bogdan & Biklen, 2007). This provided a multi-level form of analysis as described by Moustakas (1994). Level one is the original data or interview questions that is given at a face-value level, and level two is the reflective analysis and interpretation through constant comparative coding in which the theory was developed for the phenomenon that is being studied (Moustakas, 1994). With each type of data collected, key issues and themes were discovered and coded until a clear focus was formed. Constant comparative method is most often used with a multiple-site, participant observations studies according to Bogdan and Biklen (2007) and so this makes it an appropriate method to be used in the proposed study.

Coding, Evaluation, and Interpretation

First, familiarization of the data was done through transcribing the interviews personally as well as writing field notes during classroom observations. Throughout the process a reflective journal was maintained, as well as back-up copies of all information in a locked file cabinet. All computer based information was kept on a password-protected personal computer.

After transcribing each interview, coding was done. Coding provides researchers a way to organize and group data with similar characteristics into a data piece, then a category and used to form a theme (Bogdan & Biklen, 2007). For example, during the interviews of this study,

several of the participants discussed and used original photographs of a time period as a consistent form of primary sources utilized in the classroom, and so photographs were classified under a category of Primary Source Usage. The interviews were all recorded and coded using the MaxQDA program. Each interview was recorded and then transcribed by the researcher. After each transcription was completed the interviews were listened to and read. Each interview was coded and recoded utilizing the MaxQDA program with colors, phrases, and symbols, ultimately leading to the themes that developed.

The survey completed by the participants using a Likert scale was also coded to determine similar themes held by social studies teachers toward gifted students in the classroom. Each survey completed was analyzed in terms of how the answers seemed to enhance or change the answers previously given during the interviews. Observations were done without any sort of recording and involved observation of the teacher only. Field notes were taken that were both descriptive and reflective and then coded and analyzed as well.

Trustworthiness

Trustworthiness has been addressed in the study in several ways.

Credibility

Credibility, or internal validity and structural corroboration are addressed through triangulation. The use of multiple sources of data to investigate the consistency and confirmation of data is the basic premise of triangulation (Ary et al., 2010). This study utilized triangulation through the use of data source combinations of interviews, surveys, and observations. This method has been used to determine if the data collected are consistent within three sources with the various subjects. Completed surveys were analyzed for themes and shared ideas to help focus interviews. An initial interview was conducted with each participant that was

recorded and reviewed for accuracy to ensure miscommunication had not occurred on the subject (Ary et al., 2006). A survey was then completed by all participants. Lastly, an observation was made of a teacher's lesson in the classroom with a short conversation following. Observations were not recorded and students were not the subject of the observations.

Transferability

Transferability refers to the degree in which the results can be transferred (Anney, 2014). This occurs through thick descriptions and purposeful sampling. Purposeful sampling allows the researcher to focus on participants that are particularly knowledgeable about a subject (Anney, 2014). Thick description refers to detailed descriptions that would allow another researcher to replicate the study. The district and participants chosen for this study were selected because of access to multi-sited middle schools with various population demographics and varied backgrounds of possible participants.

Conformability

Authenticity of the completed research and researcher bias were controlled through reflexivity or self-reflection. Qualitative research does not assume all meanings are fixed and stable. Instead, meanings were built and categorized through data collection. The findings need to be derived from the data (Anney, 2014). Reflexivity provided an approach to data collection that included the researchers' pre-conceptions being known in the study, as well as personal experiences and reactions in the field (Ary et al., 2010). Limitations of the study, as well as an ethical safe-guard are acknowledged and provided through reflexivity. This process allowed me a way to include a description of my personal experiences and reactions in the field, as well as describe how my approach to data collection affected the findings of the research study (Gall et al., 2007). To help control through reflexivity, I kept a reflective journal throughout the study to

understand and maintain my perspective. The reflective journal provided a place to write my thoughts as I compiled data (Ary et al., 2010), exemplified by Ross in his 2012 dissertation. Reflective journaling was also a place in which to write frustrations, ideas, feelings, and discussion for the rationale behind decisions made during the research study (Krefting, 1991), a process utilized by Buhl in his 2010 dissertation. I utilized both concepts in reflective journaling to maintain trustworthiness.

Dependability

To ensure the quality and rigor of the study, documentation through an audit trail was utilized by keeping all raw data, as well as decisions made throughout the study (Ary et. al, 2006). The audit trail was used to document the research process, including the source and method of raw data recording, field notes, and information about survey development and use (Ary et al., 2010). Clear and meaningful links were built through the research questions, raw data, and findings through the use of an audit trail.

When presenting the findings a question I asked myself was, "Have I accurately understood and portrayed my participants' viewpoints, thoughts, and experiences?" Simply put, do the participants agree with what I have said about them? To answer this question accurately, member checks, or participant feedback, has been included. Member checks also ensure quality and rigor in qualitative research by reflecting sound research design (Ary et al., 2010). Member checks ensure the participants' perspectives have been included in the study (Ary et al., 2010). The member checks help provide a safe-guard for accuracy as well as a courtesy to participants, perhaps allowing them to feel more comfortable with the idea of being involved in the study.

Ethical Considerations

The nine participants in this study all volunteered to participate after receiving an email explaining the study. The participants used in the study were made thoroughly aware of the purpose of the study and signed their consent to participate with the knowledge that they could withdraw at any time. All data, including names of participants, were kept on a password-protected laptop computer that is a personal device not owned by the school district. Hard copies of all information were placed in a locked filing cabinet in a home office. All participants were given pseudonyms throughout the research process, including in the written dissertation.

Transcribed interviews and interpretations were provided for all teacher participants to read and determine if something was missed by the researcher.

Summary

This study used phenomenological qualitative research to determine the perspectives of middle school social studies teachers toward using primary sources for critical thinking skills development. Data from nine participants were collected using interviews, surveys, and field observations. Constant comparative method was used for data analysis. All interviews were recorded using MaxQDA and transcribed and coded within the program. Coding was also completed for the surveys and field observations. Trustworthiness was maintained through triangulation, reflexivity, audit checks, as well as member checks.

CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS

Overview

This chapter contains qualitative analysis results of data gathered from this phenomenological qualitative study. The study was conducted to determine teacher perceptions toward using primary sources in middle school social studies classrooms to teach and enhance critical thinking skills to identified gifted students. Some studies in the literature address the importance of using primary sources in the classroom to teach critical thinking skills (Jones & Hebert, 2012; Lindquist, 2012; National Council for Social Studies, 2012; Neumann, 2012; Ormond, 2011; Padurano, 2011; Tally & Goldenberg, 2005; Waring & Robinson, 2010), as well as the lack of gifted education and a need for critical skill development while teaching gifted students (Bangor et al., 2010; Berman et al., 2012; Drain, 2008; Ford, 2011; Stephens, 2011; Swanson & Lord, 2011). However, there is a lack of research bridging these two concepts. This study was conducted to help bridge this gap. Nine participants agreed to be a part of the study. Each participant is a middle school social studies teacher. Data on their perceptions toward the concepts of primary sources, critical thinking skills, and gifted education were collected through interviews, field notes, and a survey.

A phenomenological study was chosen so that the research would reflect the voice of the participants. The interviews with each participant were transcribed and then analyzed to develop categories and themes. The findings on the phenomenological data are described in this chapter.

Research Questions

The study was designed as a phenomenological study in order to learn teacher perceptions and form themes. Following are the research questions used to frame the study:

- 1. What are the educational backgrounds of middle school social studies teachers qualifying them to teach social studies and gifted students?
- 2. What do middle school social studies teachers understand to be primary sources and how do they use them in the classroom?
- 3. What are critical thinking skills and how can social studies and primary sources be used to enhance these skills in gifted students?

Participants

The participants in this study were all middle school social studies teachers in the same South Carolina school district. The study utilized purposeful sampling with maximum variation sampling involving nine participants. Maximum variation sampling uses multiple cases that exhibit a range of characteristic variations for two purposes: to document the range of variation as well as to determine common themes and patterns (Gall et al, 2007). The use of maximum variation sampling allowed the study to determine differences and commonalities of the participants studied (Ary et al., 2010). All seventh- and eighth-grade middle school social studies teachers were identified through each school's website. An initial email was sent to potential participants that resulted in one participant agreeing to be a part of the study. After waiting a week a second individual email was sent to potential participants that resulted in eight participants agreeing to be a part, providing a total of nine participants. All participants were given a pseudonym for the purpose of this study. The table below provides information on the nine participants: gender, years teaching, gifted certification status, national board certification status, and educational background.

Table 3

Participant Background Information

Name	Gender	Gifted	Years	Educational	National Board
		Certified	Teaching	Background	Certified in
					Social Studies
Erica	F	No	15-20	BA	Yes
			years	M ED	
Renee	F	No	10-15 years	BA	Yes
				MA	
Fred	M	No	1-5 years	BA	No
Celia	F	No	5-10 years	BS	No
				MAT	
Nina	F	No	5-10 years	BS	No
Marie	F	Yes	10-15 years	BA	No
Pam	F	Yes	10-15 years	BA	Yes
				M ED	
Carl	M	No	10-15	BS	No
			years	MA	
Jeff	M	No	10-15 years	BA	No
				MA	

Note: All information is based on participant self-reports

All participants returned their signed agreement to be a part of the study. After receiving the signed paper, interviews were scheduled with each participant with all but one occurring in a school setting. The one outside of a school setting took place at a restaurant at the request of the participant. After each interview, surveys were emailed through Survey Monkey for participants to complete and a time was scheduled for a classroom observation.

Results

Survey

As part of the triangulation process, and to enrich the data, a survey was utilized entitled the Educator's Perception of Gifted Education Instrument (O'Shea & McCoach, 2010). The survey was obtained from Dr. Betsy McCoach from the University of Connecticut in December 2012. The survey used a Likert scale of 8 so that educators can rate their thoughts and feelings

on the statements involving gifted education. Because this study dealt with the perceptions of gifted education, the survey provided in-depth information on a subject and allowed data to be obtained easily.

After each interview, the participating teachers were sent an email link to the survey.

The survey was uploaded onto Survey Monkey to simplify the collection of answers. When each participant accessed the survey and finished, an email was returned to the associated email.

The survey was based on eight categories for each statement: completely disagree, mostly disagree, moderately disagree, neither agree nor disagree, moderately agree, mostly agree, and completely agree. The results indicate that while most participating teachers believe in the importance of gifted identification there are mixed beliefs on how and if gifted education should be funded compared to regular education and special education services. The specific results of the survey are compiled in Table 4 and are discussed in more detail in Chapter Five.

Table 4

Educator's Perception of Gifted Education Instrument (2010) Results

	Completely Disagree–	Mostly Disagree–	Moderately Disagree	Neither Agree Nor Disagree	Moderately Agree	Mostly Agree	Completely Agree-
1. Students identified as gifted should become future leaders.	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	22.22%	44.44%	22.22%	11.11%
2. Students identified as gifted need more resources compared to average students.	0.00%	11.11 % 1	11.11%	0.00%	44.44%	22.22%	11.11%
3. Special curriculum is necessary to meet the academic needs of students identified as gifted.	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	11.11%	33.33% 3	44.44%	11.11%

	Completely Disagree	Mostly Disagree	Moderately Disagree–	Neither Agree Nor Disagree	Moderately Agree-	Mostly Agree	Completely Agree-
4. Students identified as gifted should provide society with many benefits.	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	22.22%	44.44%	22.22%	11.11%
5. Students identified as gifted will be important resources to society.	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	11.11%	44.44%	22.22%	22.22%
6. The way that students identified as gifted learn greatly differs from other students.	0.00%	11.11 % 1	22.22%	0.00%	44.44%	22.22%	0.00%
7. Students identified as gifted will develop new ideas to further society.	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	11.11%	66.67%	22.22%	0.00%
8. Teachers must look for ways to meet the special academic needs of students identified as gifted in the classroom.	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	11.11%	66.67% 6	22.22%
9. We invest in future productivity by providing additional resources to students identified as gifted.	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	11.11%	33.33%	44.44%	11.11%
10. Students identified as gifted need more funding than general education students.	11.11 % 1	11.11 % 1	11.11%	11.11%	22.22%	33.33%	0.00%
11. Funding for gifted programs should be a lower priority than	11.11 % 1	22.22 % 2	22.22%	33.33% 3	11.11%	0.00%	0.00%

	Completely Disagree	Mostly Disagree	Moderately Disagree-	Neither Agree Nor Disagree	Moderately Agree-	Mostly Agree-	Completely Agree-
funding for other education programs							
12. Students identified as gifted are natural leaders.	11.11 % 1	11.11 % 1	22.22%	11.11%	22.22%	22.22%	0.00%
13. Students with learning disabilities need more resources than students identified as gifted.	0.00%	11.11 % 1	11.11%	11.11%	33.33%	33.33%	0.00%
14. Students identified as gifted have unique skills that will benefit society.	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	22.22%	33.33%	33.33% 3	11.11%
15. Students identified as gifted have different learning needs that require special curriculum.	0.00%	0.00%	11.11%	0.00%	55.56% 5	22.22%	11.11%
16. Gifted programs do not deserve as many resources as special education programs.	22.22 % 2	11.11 % 1	33.33%	11.11%	11.11%	11.11%	0.00%
17. Teachers need to receive training on how to teach gifted students.	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	11.11%	22.22%	33.33%	33.33% 3
18. General education programs should be the focus of resources and funding, not gifted education.	0.00%	0.00%	44.44%	11.11%	22.22%	11.11%	11.11%
19. Students identified as gifted require special	0.00%	11.11 % 1	22.22%	22.22%	33.33%	0.00%	11.11%

	Completely Disagree-		Moderately Disagree-	Neither Agree Nor Disagree	Moderately Agree-	Mostly Agree-	Completely Agree-
books and materials to meet their academic needs.							
20. Gifted programs take too many resources away from other students and programs	33.33 % 3	0.00%	44.44%	22.22%	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%
21. Students identified as gifted require special curriculum to learn new things at school.	0.00%	0.00%	22.22%	22.22%	33.33%	11.11%	11.11%
22. Funds for gifted programs are contributions toward the future of society.	0.00%	0.00%	22.22%	33.33%	22.22%	0.00%	22.22%
23. Students identified as gifted should make outstanding contributions to society.	0.00%	0.00%	11.11%	33.33%	44.44%	0.00%	11.11%
24. Funding for gifted programs should be higher priority than funding for other academic programs.	0.00%	44.44 % 4	22.22%	22.22%	0.00%	0.00%	11.11%
25. Students identified as gifted need just as many academic resources as students with learning disabilities.	0.00%	0.00%	22.22%	11.11%	33.33%	11.11%	22.22%
26. Students identified as gifted need to go beyond the general	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	44.44%	33.33% 3	22.22%

	Completely Disagree-	Mostly Disagree	Moderately Disagree–	Neither Agree Nor Disagree	Moderately Agree-	Mostly Agree	Completely Agree-
education curriculum to achieve at their highest possible level.							
27. Students with disabilities deserve funding more than students identified as gifted.	11.11 % 1	11.11 % 1	22.22%	22.22%	22.22%	11.11%	0.00%
28. Students identified as gifted are more likely than other students to become leaders.	0.00%	0.00%	44.44%	11.11%	22.22%	11.11%	11.11%
29. All states should mandate and fund gifted programming.	0.00%	0.00%	11.11%	11.11%	33.33% 3	22.22%	22.22%
30. We need to provide resources to the top students to keep up with other countries.	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	22.22%	44.44%	11.11%	22.22%
31. Gifted programs should be one of the first programs to be cut when a school needs to make budget cuts.	33.33 % 3	11.11 % 1	33.33%	11.11%	11.11%	0.00%	0.00%
32. We need the top performing students to become leaders in their fields.	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	11.11%	55.56% 5	0.00%	33.33% 3

Note: Used with permission from McCoach & O'Shea (2010)

Selected and Coded Answers to Research Questions

The following were the guiding research questions along with what appeared to be the overall answer based on the data gathered. Following the brief answers to the research questions a more thorough discussion of the themes that emerged will be presented.

1. What is the educational background of middle school social studies teachers qualifying them to teach social studies and gifted students?

The participating teachers had various backgrounds for teaching middle school social studies. Six of the teachers, Renee, Celia, Marie, Pam, Carl, and Jeff, have Bachelor of Arts degrees in a social studies related subjects. Fred has a Bachelor of Arts in Political Science and is currently working toward certification through the PACE program of South Carolina, an alternative teaching certification program. Nina began her teaching career in Reading and added on a Social Studies certification. Erica has a major in a non Social Studies field and went through the alternative certification many years prior. Of the nine participants, four were National Board certified in middle school social studies, Erica, Renee, Marie, and Pam. All the teachers but Fred, who is working through PACE, are considered Highly Qualified Social Studies Middle School teachers by the state Department of Education.

The vast majority of the participating teachers were not gifted certified. Three of the teachers expressed interest in becoming certified, but because the classes are not currently offered through the district, have not done so. One teacher, Pam, recently took the classes required in South Carolina but has not submitted the paperwork to the Education Department. A second teacher was certified several years prior. Overall, there was a lack of gifted certification considering every middle school social studies teacher will have gifted students in the classroom each year.

2. How qualified does the middle school social studies teacher perceive him or herself in order to teach gifted students in the regular classroom?

Although the majority of the teachers have not completed coursework toward gifted education endorsement, the participating teachers, overall, personally felt qualified to teach gifted students. Each teacher discussed and presented his or her beliefs of how gifted students learn and within the discussion appeared to have confidence in their knowledge and ability. There was a desire of two teachers, Erica and Renee, to take the two required courses to become endorsed in gifted education through the Education Department. According to the survey results, being certified in gifted education was not a necessity to teach gifted students.

- 3. What do middle school social studies teachers understand to be primary sources?
- First-hand documents, such as diaries, treaties, and government papers, were the first response given by all participants as a primary source. Several teachers mentioned video, pictures, and art as a possible primary source, but were unsure if they were considered one by others outside of a classroom. Marie stated she thought only of written information when identifying primary sources.
- 4. How can middle school social studies teachers teach gifted students to develop historical critical thinking skills in history?

When asked about teaching gifted students effectively the answers tended to be connected to a type of product or production by the gifted student. The participants held some knowledge of critical thinking skills, but it was not something they could easily describe. Nor were they able to describe effectively how social studies were connected to critical thinking skills, only that they were connected. While the concepts were not easily

described, many stated confidently that they knew the concepts were connected, but were not ideas they consciously thought about often and did not have a ready description.

Themes

To arrive at the following themes, the data were first coded through open coding.

According to Saldana (2013), coding in qualitative research is often a word or short phrase that symbolically assigns a word or phrase to a passage. This type of coding leads to categorized inventory or index of the data's contents. This results in a large number of codes.

After the initial coding of the information, reorganizing and condensing the codes into smaller, more manageable sets of codes was necessary. Saldana (2013) refers to this coding through various cycles as a way of "reorganizing and condensing the vast array of initial analytic details into a main dish" (p. 208). Each initially coded interview was read through and listened to again to determine similar ideas and codes. This was done several times in order to develop themes. The coding process resulted in six overall themes. Table 8 outlines the overall themes and subcategories. Within each subcategory, the table indicates what codes were first used in the open coding.

Table 5

Coding Table: Themes. Subcategories and Codes

Theme	Subcategories	Code for each subcategory		
Social studies importance for society as a whole	1 - Civil Education	Code 1 - Need SS to vote Code 2 - Current events		
	2 - Common Core	Code 1 – State Standards Code 2 - CCSS		
	3 - Others lack of importance placed on social studies (SS)	Code 1 – SS in classroom Code 2 – Importance of SS		

Educators description of gifted education	1 - Educational background of teachers	Code 1 - Gifted endorsed Code 2 - No formal training for gifted endorsement
	2 - District provisions	Code 1 - Pull-out program Code 2 – Grouping and identification through math and language arts
	3 – What do gifted students need in the classroom	Code 1 – Learn globally Code 2 – Scaffolding for critical thinking skills Code 3 – Homogeneous grouping important Code 4 – Challenging material
Gifted students in the social studies classroom	1 – Social studies services gifted students	Code 1 – Gifted and SS
	2 – What can one expect from students	Code 1 – Deeper understanding/in-depth Code 2 – Presentations and projects
	3 – Instructional methods	Code 1 – Hands – on Code 2 – Learning centered - Groups Code 3 – Lecture and Discussion Code 4 – Technology based
Description of critical thinking skills within social studies	1 – Definition of critical thinking skills in social studies	Code 1 – Critical Thinking skills Code 2 – Strategies for skills
	2 – How can view CTS in gifted students in SS classroom	Code 1 – Thinking outside the box Code 2 – Drawing conclusions Code 3 – Finding Patterns Code 4 – Creating knowledge not given knowledge Code 5 – Evaluate information

		Code 6 – Move beyond
		yes/no questions
		Code 7 – Multiple
		perspectives
	3 – CTS not actively pursued	Code 1 – Uncertainty
	in classroom	toward CTS
		Code 2 – Testing
		Code 3 – Lack of time
Importance of primary sources	1 –Primary sources examples?	Code 1 – Photographs
1 ,		Code 2 – Videos
		Code 3 – Documents
		Code 4 – Music
		Code 5 – Government
		documents
	2 – How primary sources are	Code 1 – Examples
	used?	Code 2 – Enhance interest
	useu:	Code 2 Elinance interest
	3 – Current state of using	Code 1 – Common Core
	primary sources?	Code 2 – Teacher common
		planning
Primary sources and critical	1 – Primary sources provides	Code 1 – Point of view
thinking skills for gifted	link between CTS and GT	discussion
students share a link	learning	Code 2 – Discussion of bias
		Code 3 – Abstract thought

Table 5

Social Studies Importance for Society as a Whole

Social studies came to be in its modern inception at the beginning of the 20th century with the progressive movement wanting to bring about better citizenship among American students. Social studies today includes subjects such as history, geography, sociology, and psychology, but most people think primarily of history. The teacher participants in this study believed in the importance of social studies, particularly for citizenship development. Marie stated:

You know history just has so much bearing on the lives that they live and I think history is the place where they can all form opinions. You know you gotta vote. . .It makes them expand their minds outside of what they actually

experience outside of their lives everyday (Personal Communication with Participant, May 19, 2014).

Erica stated:

Why wouldn't anybody need to learn social studies? I mean they are only going to vote for whoever is going to lead our country or be leaders themselves. Anybody can add. They have calculators. They need social studies. It gives you a basis for values and how things should work in a society so we don't let somebody come in and mess it up (Personal Communication with Participant, May 23, 2014).

Marie and Renee both discussed how all students are not math and science oriented and social studies provides another great way to learn and succeed in the learning environment. In social studies, there is not a textbook answer every time and students are able to look for evidence, discuss with others and come to a different and new conclusion. Historical interpretation is not absolute. Jeff also saw social studies as important, but its importance came from how it leads students to think outside of their cultural bias. He stated, "it forces you to break out of your cultural bias because you have to look at it through the perspective of someone else" (Personal Communication with Participant, May 16, 2014).

Even though social studies teachers feel their subject is very important for a student's education, Marie, Jeff, and Erica expressed a feeling of lack of importance by others. Marie wondered why social studies could not be homogeneously grouped, unlike math and science so that students could study the subject more in-depth. Jeff stated:

I think social studies does get a bad rap. They always put us at the end for some reason - have you noticed that? You get your math and you get your language

arts up top and then they flip a coin either science or social studies (Personal Communication with Participant, May 16, 2014).

Erica felt the strongest on the way social studies is viewed by many within the education system stating:

WE ARE LIKE RELATED ARTS TEACHERS! We are considered. We're considered. We're the last one on the totem pole as far as importance. I almost wish they would make us related arts and not test us. Then we could actually enjoy what we do.

(Personal Communication from Participant, May 23, 2014).

Educators Description of Gifted Education

Gifted education refers to services provided for students who qualify based on preset criteria.

District provisions. Gifted education is not the same across states. It is not even the same within a state. Districts are most often allowed to set the criteria to identify gifted students as well as how to service them as long as the criteria stay within a state framework. In the participants' district, gifted students are tested and identified starting in the second grade. Students are then placed in a pull-out program that meets once a week through seventh grade. This information is well known by teachers throughout the district and can be found on the district website.

As of last year, eighth-grade students no longer will be in the pull-out program. Instead they will be serviced through English 1 or Algebra 1 and Spanish 1. All participants are aware of the pull-out program. When asked how students are serviced in the district, this program is what they described. Celia, Jeff, and Renee also explained that because students are grouped for English 1 and Algebra 1 this provides at least one class that for the majority have been identified

as gifted. However, these students are not identified as gifted for social studies. Renee also expressed an interested in teaching an Honors eight grade social studies class, but stated she did not see it occurring any time soon. Marie stated that the middle school she works in purposefully makes sure there is not a social studies class that is majority identified gifted students. All classes she has are heterogeneously grouped by ability

Nina stated that she did not see the pull-out program as beneficial and believed it needs to be changed. Erica believes the pull-out program for middle school will change to alternating Honors classes for science and social studies in middle school because surrounding districts have changed to this method. She also believes it would be beneficial for the gifted student to do this stating, "I think it would be something they strive real hard for and work a little harder to keep [grades up]" (Personal Communication from Participant, May 23, 2014).

Endorsement for gifted education. Although all participants teach gifted students throughout the day, it is not a requirement to be endorsed in gifted education in the state. Interestingly, when Fred, the one teacher currently going through alternative certification, was asked what type of coursework he has had to teach gifted students, he replied that he had read one article about minority gifted students. His only knowledge of the subject from an academic standpoint was from this one article. Everything else was based on his own opinion. The endorsement requires two classes to be taken: Nature and Needs of Gifted and Talented Students and Curriculum for Gifted and Talented Classes. Only two of the nine participants have completed the required coursework and only one, Marie, has the endorsement through the education department. Pam stated she completed the coursework, but has not sent the information to the state department to add to her certificate.

Gifted needs in the classroom. The participants in the study overall are not endorsed by the state to teach gifted classes. The opinion appears to be that endorsement is only needed for the teachers who are involved in the pull-out program; however, they do have gifted students every day to teach. When asked about gifted education the participants were confident in their knowledge of what gifted students needed in the classroom as well as the challenges and rewards of having such students in the classroom. There were several overall concepts the participants viewed as necessary for gifted students. First the need to homogeneously group gifted students in the classroom. Secondly, gifted students need challenging material, as Fred stated, "they [gifted students] learn faster and they soak in more information at a higher rate" (Personal Communication with Participant, May 5, 2014). The third concept was the need to encourage gifted students in engagement with the material. The need for creativity was the fourth. As Fred stated "they are creating knowledge instead of given knowledge" (Personal Communication with Participant, May 5, 2014). Lastly, scaffolding the higher critical thinking skills was given: "Scaffold their lessons a bit higher (but) not too much that you kind of stray from the main objective of each lesson" (Jeff) (Personal Communication with Participant, May 16, 2014).

Challenges. When asked if there were challenges within gifted education, there were many challenges discussed by the participants. While there were a few consistencies about challenges, many had a different interpretation of the challenge. One challenge discussed was the lack of time to slow down and explore what the students are interested in or "go down the rabbit trail" as Jeff stated (Personal Communication with Participant, May 16, 2014). Marie gave this scenario: "I've had some kids who were really, really interested in the atomic bomb and the atomic bomb is about one line in the 1,000s of standards we have" (Personal Communication with Participant, May 19, 2014).

Nina views the challenge as having enough knowledge on a subject to not be "stumped" by the students as the challenge with gifted students. The observation of her classroom showed Nina using primary sources to effectively engage the students as well as enhance the subject knowledge. Carl and Jeff viewed the challenge to be how students were identified as gifted in the social studies classroom. Carl explained it as:

The reason students (sic) have been identified as gifted is usually because of math aptitude or a language arts aptitude which is fine. But social studies is about certain mental process skills, and even if you have students that are labeled gifted not all of them have that same level of the mental process skill.

(Personal Communication with Participant, May 13, 2014).

Fred, Celia, Marie, Pam, and Erica all discussed the challenge of keeping the gifted students engaged. Student engagement is believed to be linked to motivation. Fred and Celia discussed wanting to keep gifted students from being bored in the classroom. From Celia's perspective, gifted students learn the material much more quickly and the classroom needs to be utilized for valuable information and not extra rote memorization. In both Fred and Celia's classrooms, primary sources were being used to encourage students to think critically through synthesis and analysis of information.

Marie spoke of the difficulties in differentiating in the heterogeneous classroom. While observing her classroom it was evident that Marie was attempting to differentiate while trying to engage all students in the lesson. Pam echoed this difficulty in heterogeneous classrooms, including the need to not give students bookwork on a subject if the students already understand the material. She continued explaining how that differentiation of the classroom mainly refers to

an end product and setting higher unspoken standards. Renee also presented this idea when discussing challenges, as well as what was observed in her classroom.

Rewards. When asked if there were rewards teaching gifted students, each participant visibly relaxed and smiled during the interview process. Teaching gifted students was overwhelmingly viewed as rewarding. The rewards ranged from lack of discipline issues in a majority gifted class, as Jeff stated, "I can be more historian and less disciplinarian" (Personal Communication with Participant, May 16, 2014). This is in regards to creative questions asked by the students, but most often for the growth and excitement that can be seen in students.

Creative questioning was an interesting reward that several participants expressed. Marie explained the reward this way:

I think the best thing about teaching gifted students is the questions - when you are a history teacher you really want somebody to have thought about something you said and say I wonder? or Why has someone? That's the greatest thing!

(Personal Communication with Participant, May 19, 2014).

Pam saw questioning as a form of conversation between the teacher and students as a reward instead of just feeding information. Jeff viewed it similarly, stating the students use questions to explore a subject more thoroughly:

We rabbit trail so often that I never even get to the full objective of the lesson because we've gone from one A and we've skipped down to Z because they've asked one question and then they bounce off of one another. One question can usually eat up 30 seconds with your regular education classes. One question can take up the entire class period (in gifted class), because each kid will feed off of one another.

(Personal Communication with Participant, May 16, 2014).

With these questions the students can grow in knowledge and as an historian, ultimately leading to becoming a better citizen. The majority reward was viewed as the growth and excitement seen in students. Fred stated, "the reward is seeing them grow- as a student and an individual" (Personal Communication with Participant, May 5, 2014). Renee and Erica both viewed this growth as seeing students take on a challenge academically and succeed beyond expectation. The classroom observation with Renee was an example of this type of growth.

Gifted Students in the Social Studies Classroom

While social studies has not often been used as a vehicle to test and promote gifted students, research has presented evidence that it has the potential to enhance critical thinking skills among gifted students. Through discussion with the participants, three subcategories emerged on the topic of gifted students in the social studies classroom: social studies can service gifted students, what teachers can expect from gifted students in the classroom, and instructional methods used for gifted students in social studies.

Social studies can service gifted students. Participants were asked to describe if and how social studies can service gifted students. The responses given by all participants involved the need for social studies to develop citizenship and global awareness. When asked if social studies could service gifted and talented students, Marie stated the following:

It seems like the most logical to me because it has the most effect on their lives now. You know not everybody is going to be a scientist. You know history just has so much bearing on the lives that they live and I think history is the place where they can all form opinions...I think it's the most logical place to put an accelerated or enriched curriculum. (Personal Communication with Participant, May 19, 2014).

Erica shared a similar opinion on the importance of social studies. "Why wouldn't gifted and talented? ... They need social studies. It gives you a basis for values and how things should work in a society so we don't let somebody come in and mess it up" (Personal Communication with Participant, May 23, 2014). Jeff believes it forces you to break out of your cultural bias because you have to look at it through the perspective of someone else.

Renee stated:

There's not a textbook correct answer for every question you have. There are always new points of view - ways to look at documents and that shows real critical thinking skills when a student is able to back up their thoughts with evidence and do it correctly. You don't necessarily have that with math. You don't necessarily have that all the time with reading a book or science. But here if I ask them a question they've got to be able to back it up with evidence. Why do you think the way you do? What is it with what you are doing that lets you think that way? What's the evidence?

(Personal Communication with Participant, May 23, 2014).

This line of thought led to the second subcategory of what teachers expect from their gifted students in the social studies classroom.

Expectations for gifted students in social studies classroom. When questioned about gifted learning in the classroom, most responded with what they expected and found their gifted students could do. The responses were varied, but ultimately there were two basic concepts. First, gifted students think more critically or deeply about a subject. This deeper thought leads to more exploration of a subject. Gifted students possess a desire to research a topic of interest on their own more thoroughly than typical peers. One interesting finding was that the majority of

the field observations showed the participants engaging in primary sources utilizing the ideas of their own preconceptions.

Nina simply stated the students dive deeper into the information. Carl was similar in saying gifted students were more in-depth at their studies, but he went on to say gifted students "really explore the who, what and why ...of a situation so they can see perhaps patterns and how it applies to other events" (Personal Communication with Participant, May 13, 2014). He gave an example of having students read John Locke's *Treatise of Government* and then analyzing and debating the readings. His classroom lesson involved an exploration of the students' personal "who" using ancestral research.

Celia explained that gifted students do not just regurgitate facts, but they take time to gather information and see how things change. In Celia's classroom during an end of the year observation, the lesson demonstrated her belief in this concept by having the students analyze a will through the use of background knowledge they acquired throughout the year. Jeff described gifted students' ability to see history as a "grand story" and they can "weave the pieces together" (Personal Communication with Participant, May 16, 2014). His classroom lesson involved having students analyze a packet of primary sources to understand a historical event more clearly. Erica believes that gifted students are able to make connections to the real world, and that they are able to understand information from multiple perspectives for deeper understanding. Fred stated that gifted students are able to see patterns. An idea he was using was to have students research a historical time period previously studied more in-depth.

Pam takes a different perspective. She discussed gifted students as being able to possibly answer how and why questions. She views gifted students as visual learners and being able to

research a subject more in-depth on their own after learning basic information through textbooks. Then, after taking the various pieces of information, they form an opinion or answer a question.

Secondly, gifted students are believed to be capable of presenting information learned in various forms such as in-depth projects. Pam and Marie presented the idea that gifted students should turn in more work because they will have gone more in-depth. Pam stated:

I think that what they need is to be challenged and whether if that's by, you know, making presentations or giving them more work - you know - challenging them I think is what when they get bored that's when they just don't perform as well.

(Personal Communication with Participant, April 30, 2014).

Renee and Erica both stated that gifted students are expected to present in-depth presentations in their classroom. Renee recently completed a project for all her classes. The assignment was the same for each class, but for the class that was dominantly filled with gifted identified students the expectation was a more in-depth project and presentation. Projects should be a part of a social studies class for gifted students according to Carl and Renee. Projects by some students "can blow a teacher away" (Renee) (Personal Communication with Participant, May 23, 2014).

Instructional methods for gifted in social studies. The instructional methods used and needed varied a great deal by teacher. Even if they stated a similar concept when asked to explain more in-depth, it varied. An example of this is the instructional method of using technology. Fred, Nina, and Marie all stated they thought utilizing technology was effective in the social studies classroom. How they used it was different.

Fred uses technology in terms of research for more in-depth study or interaction for explanation. His classroom observation showed that Fred used technology to explain how they were going to analyze a primary document from the Cold War.

Marie uses technology differently in the classroom. For each chapter, Marie makes a packet for students to complete. The computer is used and she explains the process.

I have packets for each chapter that we do and each unit and then I use kind of a self-paced (lesson where they are) on the computer taking notes and my voice is on the computer and they watch videos and then we talk about it in very small chunks throughout the sections um and then reviews - interesting videos, but just lecturing does not work and its funny because they - that's the way they get the least amount of information but that's what they think of as teaching if you don't do that.

(Personal Communication with Participant, May 19, 2014)

Nina explains her use of technology, as well as why she chooses to use it:

I use a lot of technology, both - as much as possible in the hands of the students and very interactively on the smart board because I find that with this era of digital natives that's what they respond to. So I find if I can catch their attention with the technology and then - and so I try to vary my instruction according to the learning styles in the room and I do a learning styles inventory in the beginning, but I find that nothing keeps their attention like something that is technology driven, so I try to rely on it.

(Personal Communication with Participant, April 30, 2014).

In the classroom observation with Nina, she played a geography game, but used the SmartBoard interactively for students to determine what place was being described using primary documents studied throughout the year.

Renee was seen using technology for a project based assignment during a classroom observation. When asked to describe what types of methods used she stated using lecture and Socratic Seminar, and hands-on activities:

Anytime I can get them outside and show them how it was done without you know putting life and limb to risk I will do to get them involved in history just so they can realize it wasn't that easy. We preserved food one year - I think it was last year - I actually preserved eggs in dirt for 6 months. I couldn't believe it - now we didn't eat them - but we did crack them and the majority of them were still good. I could not believe it, but yet I had read the method in how they did it so we tried it. (Personal Communication with Participant, May 23, 2014).

Group work was another type of instructional method used, but again the concept was not viewed exactly the same. Pam stated she likes to use what she calls "learning-centered concepts" in her classroom instead of teacher directed concepts. Fred discussed using group work for analysis of information. Erica stated she uses group work to present information in a new format, and gave examples of making up raps, songs and acting out political cartoons.

There were several additional types of instructional methods discussed that varied among the participants. Erica stated she finds showing video clips of historical events effective in the classroom. Hands-on activities are very effective for history according to Renee, and she finds creative ways to incorporate them into lessons. What Marie has

found to be most effective are self-paced unit packets that include worksheets, videos, and notes that she has pre-recorded. Marie does not think lecture is effective at all, whereas Fred and Renee both use lecture to present new information. Celia and Renee both find the Socratic method of topic discussion effective.

Description of Critical Thinking Skills within Social Studies

Participants were asked to describe or define critical thinking skills. Most, when prompted, said that critical thinking was not a concept that they actively thought about when planning for the classroom. Each participant did define critical thinking skills; however, they defined the idea in terms of what students would be able to do within the classroom; specifically how the participants described what the social studies classroom for gifted students would be in theory.

Definition of critical thinking skills. Jeff and Renee both described critical thinking skills as including group work; specifically being able to effectively work within a team or group. Jeff described critical thinking skills as:

Critical thinking skills need to be more of a team game - team work of sorts - because that's what they are really pushing nowadays. So I guess Critical thinking skills in my class when I am not up at the board going over a PowerPoint um they are breaking up, they are Think Pair Sharing and.... their answers are being derived not only from their own personal belief of what is right and wrong, but they have to draw on the aspects of what do you think why do you think it that way.

(Personal Communication with Participant, May 16, 2014).

Critical thinking skills were also described as being able to see multiple perspectives of an argument and analyzing the information into a type of synthesis. As Nina stated, "allowing them to see all sides of the argument and allowing them to see the value in all sides of the argument" (Personal Communication with Participant, April 30, 2014). Within this idea, the participants described critical thinking skills in terms of what the classroom would have.

The skills seen through critical thinking. The overall skills described for critical thinking skills in social studies was deeper understanding and in-depth thinking of a subject, using multiple sources. Also, as Nina stated, "thinking from both sides of the argument" describes critical thinking skills (Personal Communication with Participant, April 30, 2014). Each participant described the concept a little differently, but ultimately it goes back to what is referred to as deeper understanding.

Fred described critical thinking as being able to see patterns in the world, and by finding these patterns you are beginning to create knowledge and not just repeat information. Celia and Pam had similar comments, saying that critical thinking would be sifting information and comparing and contrasting the information to draw a conclusion. Critical thinking skills were described by each of the participants. Pam described them as:

Critical thinking skills - the kind of an activity or ability (that) moves beyond your general yes or no style questions. It asks students to possibly compare and contrast - to evaluate - to form an opinion based on a situation that's a critical thinking skills. Maybe it does involve a primary source and asking a student to decide what point of view it's from? (And to) decide if the author has a bias towards a particular situation - that is an example of a critical thinking skill.

(Personal Communication with Participant, May 2, 2014).

Carl described critical thinking skills with an example of what he would want to see in the classroom:

Piecing of information. Piecing it together. And many times the pieces of information don't seem to fit, but they do and students who can do that who can bring that together (are using critical thinking skills). Also can they take the little bit of information and create a roadmap for it. Where are we going with this? What kind of results? What kind of outcomes may result because of this this and this. Ok if we changed this where does you result go. Stuff like that. Again what if? What could we have done differently? If we break apart allied appeasement strategy Hitler before World War II and stuff like that. Why didn't it work? What else may have worked? Here is where the Allies drew the line in the sand and said enough is enough could it have been drawn differently. Things like that. Again kind of looking at history from dfferent angles. Analyzing it and picking it apart putting it back together putting it back together in different ways. Critical thinking things like that.

(Personal Communication with Participant, May 13, 2014).

Jeff views critical thinking skills as being able to think outside the box or being able to view from various perspectives and coming to a conclusion. While Erica has a similar view she states that it is using your background knowledge to be able to evaluate and come to a conclusion. Marie views critical thinking skills as being able to "interact with whatever your reading or talking about and to say is this true do I believe this what do I already know that goes along with this" (Personal Communication with Participant, May 19, 2014). Renee viewed

critical thinking skills in the form of what sort of product the students would create to present the information. No one person had the same description for critical thinking.

Critical thinking skills in the classroom today. Each participant described what they believed to be critical thinking skills; however, many admitted they had never thought about it before they were asked. Critical thinking skills are seen as being pushed to the background because of current standardized testing that requires students to answer approximately 50 multiple choice questions about a predetermined aspect of history. As Carl stated:

Critical thinking skills and activities are getting pushed to the wayside. We are kind of teaching the way the test will be asking and I think are losing something with that. We are not diving as deep into because of the number of standards we have to cover and things like that.

(Personal Communication with Participant, May 13, 2014).

The amount of standards that must be covered before the state testing date is viewed as the reason behind the lack of critical thinking. A seventh-grade social studies class must cover a little over 600 years of world history in just one year. Participants viewed the need to cover this much information as why critical thinking is not an integral part of class each day, including a class that is majority gifted identified students.

Importance of Primary Sources

Primary sources, according to all participants, are vital to a social studies classroom. Within the importance of primary sources there are three subthemes: defining primary sources, how primary sources will be used, and the current state of using primary sources.

What are primary sources? The overall definition for a primary source was a first-hand account of anything that takes place. Pam described it particularly well, stating, "Primary

sources are primarily the eyewitness account or documentation from that particular time period" (Personal Communication with Participant, May 2, 2014). The participants were then asked to give specific examples of what they use and consider a primary source. Each participant immediately said a document. When asked to specify what type of document or additional types of primary sources there were various answers. Table 6 shows each type of primary source according to the Library of Congress, with each participant and what they consider to be a primary source.

Table 6

Primary Source Identification

Participant	Documents	Photos	Art	Propaganda	Original	Original	Music
			including		video	Maps	from
			political		footage		time
			cartoons				period
Erica					V		
	Ex. Arrest						
	Warrants						
	from Civil						
	Rights						
	Movement						
Renee		$\sqrt{}$				V	
	Ex. Letters						
	written by						
	John C.						
	Calhoun						
Fred							
	Ex. Truman						
	Doctrine						
Celia		$\sqrt{}$					
	Ex. Will						
Nina		$\sqrt{}$					
	Ex. Letters						
	sent home by						
	WWII						
	soldiers						
Marie		V	V				$\sqrt{}$
	Ex.						
	Newspapers						

Pam	V				
	Ex.				
	Eyewitness				
	Account				
Carl		V		V	
	Ex. Magna Carta				
	Carta				
Jeff	V	V	V	V	
	Ex.				
	Zimmerman				
	n Note				

Table 5 *Note*: Based on participant self-reports

How primary sources are used. Participating teachers were asked not only to identify what a primary source was, but also how they used primary sources in the classroom. Each gave examples of how they used primary sources, and during field observations several lessons were observed utilizing primary sources. The reason given for why primary sources were used was twofold: to more thoroughly explain what was being studied and also to enhance interest in the time period or event that was being studied. Each participant named a famous historical document that is used for analysis in the classroom such as the Magna Carta, the U.S. Constitution and the Declaration of Independence. In some instances, primary sources were described in the simplest of terms: what they were and how they were used for analysis. Field observations provided a chance to view how primary sources were utilized in the classroom.

During the field observation in Celia's classroom, the students were reading and analyzing the will of a South Carolina politician. They analyzed through class discussion using background knowledge of what they studied throughout the year. The observation came at the end of the year. This observation gave a good representation of how Celia described how she uses primary sources in the classroom.

Nina's classroom observation took place at the end of the year after standardized testing was complete. Students were working on geography skills in a unique fashion using primary

sources. All students were in a group of four with a globe. In previous class periods, students identified nations through latitude and longitude, as well as by physical descriptions. Students were using primary sources including documents, photos, maps, and art displayed on the SmartBoard, and students used what they learned previously to determine what nation was being described.

Carl described using photographs for primary source analysis through a project:

I selected a host of great depression photographs and had students analyze those. What do you see as going on? Then of course they are able to provide opinions of stuff to explore what kind of feelings were evoked through the photographs. What do you think the photographer...was he just snapping away.... do you think he was trying to let people know (something in particular)?

(Personal Communication with Participant, May 13, 2014).

He continued with primary source use at the end of the year by having students use Ancestry.com and census information to trace their own family roots.

Fred has a political science background and is going through an alternate certification program. He views mainly documents as primary sources. The field observation showed his class reading Cold War documents such as the Truman Document. Students read the document, answered questions about the document, and then wrote an essay with the analysis.

Renee had students making movie trailers on iPads using primary source information to present an aspect of South Carolina history. The students interpreted the source into a synthesis to be presented through a fictional movie.

Jeff gave the most in-depth description of how he uses primary sources throughout the year within each unit. This description shows in-depth thought into the use of primary sources and well planned out lessons that use them:

For each unit, everything's broken down into units. For each unit I at least like to do one primary source study, there are – there's actually little boxes that I've gotten they're self-contained and they contain primary sources through literature, pictures and that and they cover... areas like civil war, slavery, Native Americans. So that's a good start I introduce those at the beginning of the year to the classes and they're already planned out and they already have the instructions there to know what to be looking for in the picture - what to underline in bold in the handouts. But as we get further in the school year we'll do round robin tables in which they travel from one group to another. For example, when we hit World War I, the Zimmermann address. We'll have that handed out and then we'll have the newspaper (reports) of the sinking of the *Lusitania*. They will have to pull out and draw the aspects. What were the emotions? How would this propel a nation to raise up as one to a total war against one common enemy? How did the yellow journalism work in the favor of it? By this point after going through each stage of history, they now know what to look for because there are a lot of patterns in history and you can draw those from the first Declaration of Independence going up to why South Carolina seceded - the Ordinance of Secession - and they can draw those parallels. And I will have each of those in my PPT and then a hard copy to pass around...there are just so many you can pull from, but I have to be careful not to overdo it. Sometimes you can give too much that they don't focus

on it and see the importance of one because they have too many primary source. And so we like to dissect only the most important. Usually that's the ones that have been most overplayed in history, but the point is they're overplayed because they have such a major impact or implication on the lesson and then on the events in history. I like to play it to give them the full notion of why those are the ones that are always in the history book always getting reruns on the history channel stuff like that.

ME: What do you do for the round robin?

Oh uh they'll have like a scavenger hunt sheet of what to look for with some hard facts and then they will have like what is the title of the newspaper. What title stands out the most? Then there will be a subjective question — Why do you believe the title was worded this way? What was the emotion the author was trying to capture from the reading audience? And they'll take 3 minutes, the buzzer will go off, whistle will go off, my voice will go off then they will rotate to the next session, and they will click down to the next part of the sheet. It's simple, but it keeps them moving - keeps them active and they know there's a time restraint on it and it doesn't give them time to talk about what they did last night. (Personal Communication with Participant, May 16, 2014).

Current state of using primary sources, Participants all described what primary sources are as well as how they used the sources. There were several complaints of not having enough time to utilize the sources in the classroom as much as they would like because of current standards. Fred spoke of not having enough time to determine what would work with various units. Nina discussed how it would be beneficial to have common planning time with other

social studies teachers to talk about primary sources to discuss what to use for different units and learn what types of lessons each teacher has used successfully in the classroom.

Common Core Standards were also discussed and how it would affect the use of primary sources. Pam believes Common Core Standards will bring about the use of more primary sources in the classroom because of the analysis being required by the new standards. Celia echoed a similar thought with the type of exercises Common Core requires such as CLOSE readings. CLOSE reading is a reading strategy being used in conjunction with Common Core Standards. Essentially, students read short passages several times with a series of questions that will lead students to uncover layers of meaning and deep comprehension of a subject (Boyles, 2014).

Link(s) Between, Social Studies, Primary Sources, and Critical Thinking Skills for Gifted Students

Middle school students, ages twelve to fourteen, are when abstract thought begins to develop, according to Erikson (2007). Several participants did state that critical thinking skills were more difficult because students have not fully developed abstract thought capability. At the same time, critical thinking skills are a goal in lesson planning. Primary sources are the link the participants find between social studies and critical thinking skills. As Renee stated, "A textbook is not history. Those primary sources are!" (Personal Communication with Participant, May 23, 2014).

Primary sources are used to discuss points of view of historical events and understanding biases. This could be achieved by asking students what point of view a primary source is from and to decide if the author has a particular bias toward a certain situation. Pam employs this method in the classroom. Marie gave a specific example of doing just that. "I love to do the

Boston Massacre, the Paul Revere engraving that's really inaccurate . . . (something) like that to get them to think 'Well it's obviously not accurate!' - so why did he do that? Well who was he?" (Personal Communication with Participant, May 19, 2014). Nina takes a different approach. She stated she likes to play devil's advocate with the students. The example she gave was to use propaganda from World War II and then ask the students to answer "What if?" questions to encourage critical thinking skills.

Fred explained the link with an example of having students read a portion of a document such as the U.S. Constitution and then discussing the emotions it evokes and what it is trying to convey to others. Carl views using primary sources as a way to help students understand the era from which they derive. Sources such as photographs are a moment in time to be analyzed and discussed. Jeff provided an interesting point of view on the concept:

They (students) only know what they hear on TV, but to give them first-hand accounts and force them to go back in time and understand that things weren't always this way and that you aren't inventing this. It's already been around just kind of morphed into something different. Using primary sources connects them back to a time when whatever you are going over, people were almost exactly the same - the same human thoughts you can see within the papers, you can see in the paintings, you can hear in the music. All that changes is the style here and there. We try to be unique, but we all fall back into the same rhythm of life. That's the cool thing about seeing kids be like 'Oh they were worried about this back then?'. Yeah they were still worried about being popular back then, they just showed it a little bit differently. It was just a matter of what hierarchy you were in. Were you a plebe at the bottom or aristocrat at the top everyone had the same social needs

and metaphysical needs and stuff like that so that's the one connection that I've seen using primary source more so than just the standards.

(Personal Communication from Participant, May 16, 2014).

Participants have different ways of using the primary sources to develop critical thinking skills. Overall, participants want to develop these skills and see primary sources as a way to achieve this goal. At the same time, many are hesitant in these endeavors because of what is believed to be a lack of maturity in students and a lack of time with current standards.

Summary

This chapter contained the resulting themes that were developed following interviews, observations and a survey with nine middle school social studies teacher participants. The interviews were transcribed and then coded into categories. Coding of the interviews led to themes being developed to explain the perceptions held by the teachers. The participants were from four middle schools within one district. The district has a program in place for gifted students. However, each school is different in the manner in which regular social studies class time reflects gifted education. The data and themes were used to answer the guiding research questions.

Six themes emerged through the data coding: social studies importance for society as a whole, educators' descriptions of gifted education, gifted students in the social studies classroom, critical thinking skills within social studies, importance of primary sources, and primary sources and critical thinking skills for gifted students share a link. There was one interesting aspect within the themes discovered. When asked to describe various concepts such as gifted education, primary sources, or critical thinking skills, there was a lack of cohesion in

the definitions; however, the participants who taught at the same schools had the same basic descriptions the majority of the time.

CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION

Overview

The purpose of this qualitative research study was to discover the perceptions of middle school social studies teachers on using primary sources to teach gifted students to develop critical thinking skills. No attempt has been made to generalize the results of the study. There were a total of nine participants. As with all qualitative studies, this study was conducted to provide a rich, in-depth presentation of the phenomenon. The nine participants provided their point of view on the concept and generously opened their classrooms for an observation by the researcher.

The research method used triangulation from three types of data: survey, interviews, and field observations. The survey was answered through Survey Monkey and provided perceptions on gifted education, including its usefulness, as well as how much funding should be allotted. Interviews were conducted at the participants' convenience and included research questions for the researcher to use; however, the questions were open ended and allowed for questioning to change based on the direction of the conversation. The third type of data was taken in the form of a field observation of one class per participant.

All recorded interviews were transcribed, coded, and recoded. The coded data led to the discovery of six themes and subthemes within each. This chapter presents the findings along with the researcher's interpretation of the data. Limitations of the study are addressed, as well as recommendations for further research.

Summary of the Findings

According to Bogdan and Biklen (2007), data analysis and interpretation can be difficult to separate within qualitative research. Analysis involves working with the data through coding

and patterns for themes. Interpreting data refers to developing ideas and relating them to the literature and overall concerns and concepts. The discussion of the findings was conducted within this frame.

Six major themes emerged from the data which are discussed in more detail in a subsequent section of theoretical implications. Within the six themes, the participants appeared to be the most comfortable discussing gifted education as a stand-alone subject, and primary sources also as a stand-alone subject. All participants addressed questions on the various concepts: social studies, gifted education, primary sources, and critical thinking skills. However, answers were less in-depth when asked to link the concepts together, especially when addressing critical thinking skills. This finding appears consistent with Wineburg's previous studies in 1991 and 1998, which indicate teachers' lack knowledge of how historical critical thinking skills should be defined.

Discussion of the Findings

The research and results of this study are one piece of the puzzle for the concept studied. The findings of this study cannot be generalized for all middle school social studies teachers. Researchers have previously discussed the concepts of critical thinking skills, primary sources, and gifted education, but a review of the literature revealed a lack of research within the classroom. This qualitative study adds to the body of research and provides real experiences within the terms of research concepts and will be discussed in the framework of the theoretical background in detail in a subsequent section.

One of the most conclusive aspects of this study is that even among only nine participants within the same school district, there was not one singular idea that emerged for defining gifted education, primary sources, and critical thinking skills. However, each of the participants was

confident in their interpretation of the ideas. The lack of a consensus could be contributed to the various educational backgrounds, both through majors and education institutions attended.

Among the nine participants, attained Bachelor of Arts degrees included history, political science, and restaurant/tourism management. All will be discussed more in-depth within each subtopic below.

Gifted Education

Participants presented with much enthusiasm a belief in teaching gifted students and a need for them to have lessons and classes differentiated to their needs. All participants discussed the need or desire for classes that are made up of students all identified as gifted, specifically gifted in language arts, since the state only identifies gifted students through math or language arts. In a qualitative study conducted by Misset et al., 2014, the research found that having homogenous grouping of gifted students lead teachers to have higher expectations as well as best practices. However, of the nine participants, only two have completed the coursework necessary for gifted endorsement on their teaching certificate. This lack of coursework is consistent with what Bangel et al. presented in 2010. The participants' lack of gifted endorsement may influence the various ideas of what would be rewarding and challenging for teaching gifted students.

Rewards and challenges. Each participant found the rewards of teaching gifted students an easy topic, with the reward of seeing the excitement and growth in students given most often as the reward. Two participants referred to the gifted students' willingness to take on challenges and succeed as a reward. Renzulli (2012) stated that public schools should provide an optimal education for gifted students and providing challenging material is a part of the optimal education. Interestingly, three participants stated the creative questioning asked by gifted

students as a reward for them as teachers. The questions were viewed as a reward because it indicated active engagement in mastering and understanding motivation in history and not just rote memorization of facts.

Challenges varied among the participants and ranged from time constraints for pursuing what the students wanted to know more about in-depth, to having enough knowledge on a subject of interest, to keeping students engaged. Interestingly, the three challenges noted have all been found as problems in the gifted classroom in previous studies. The need to challenge gifted students has been presented in studies and literature on gifted education from Renzulli (2012), Van Tassel-Baska (2008), and McCoy and Radar (2008). Student engagement, specifically lack of gifted student engagement, was presented and discussed in studies conducted by Kearney (2005) and Manning (2006). All the participants in the current study found time constraints from the standards as a challenge because they were not able to provide time to pursue subjects more in-depth.

Berman et al. (2012), Troxclair (2000), and Kearney (1996) all discussed time constraints in the classroom. Each of the participants also discussed the time constraints within the classroom. The issue presented was a need to teach such a large amount of history in a short amount of time for the standardized testing in the spring. All teachers stated they wished they had more time with the gifted students to do more in-depth study because the students want to, as Jeff stated, follow the "rabbit trail." Time constraints make this impossible.

Two additional challenges mentioned were more district oriented, one being how gifted students are identified and another that gifted social studies classes in middle school are not provided. Studies by Swanson and Lord (2011), Swanson (2007) and Brown et al. (2006) previously indicated gifted education in South Carolina as able to stand on its own and not at all

stagnant. Each district in South Carolina is expected to develop its own gifted program and this is a work in progress, including the district in this study.

Gifted education qualifications. Bangor et al. (2010) and Drain (2008) presented research indicating regular education teachers were not adequately prepared for teaching gifted students. Each participant in this study stated they were interested in gifted education and agreed that teachers should receive training to teach gifted students. Only two have pursued and received their gifted endorsement even though they all have gifted students in the classroom each year. While they are interested in gifted education, and have an idea of the type of work gifted students should be required to do in the classroom. Participants were lacking in knowledge of gifted characteristics. The survey conducted that addressed these educators' perspectives toward gifted students indicated discrepancies with this information.

One question on the survey asked if special curriculum is necessary to meet the academic needs of gifted students. All teachers agreed that special curriculum is needed; however, when asked if gifted students should be provided with additional resources, two teachers were against this. The belief in the need for special curriculum could be an indicator that the state of South Carolina has developed a comprehensive gifted program that has led to much buy-in by the teachers, as indicated by Brown et al. (2006). Three participating teachers do not believe gifted students learn differently than other students, although research over the past century conducted by Terman (1925), Hollingsworth (1926), Renzulli (1978), and the American Mensa Society (2012) has refuted this.

The survey asked about funding for gifted and resources for learning disability students.

The majority of the participants indicated that they believed gifted students did not need additional funding, agreeing with the statements that gifted education does not deserve as many

Institute (2008), which stated that 60% of struggling students receive the majority of the attention, and the Moon et al. (2002) study that discovered gifted students were placed in fourth place for importance. Even though from 2011 to 2013 the federal government has not given any money toward gifted programs and a limited amount allocated for the current fiscal year of 2014, and many states have significantly slashed the funding for gifted programs, all participants agreed with the statement that gifted programs take too many resources away from other students and programs.

Paradoxically, each participant agreed that gifted students need to go beyond the general curriculum to achieve their highest potential. The participants were not consistent in their beliefs toward gifted education and this could be for reasons such as lack of knowledge on the subject because the majority have not been endorsed, or standardized testing that has led to gifted education being given the least amount of importance among the core classes in an effort to ensure all students pass at a favorable rate (Berman et al., 2012; Moon et al., 2002; Thomas B. Fordham Institute, 2008).

History Education

Three aspects were discussed during this study in reference to social studies education: the use of textbooks, the purpose of social studies, and the importance of social studies. At the turn of the twentieth century, history morphed into social studies education with its primary objective to educate better American citizens. The findings indicate that this purpose is still upheld by teachers. As Marie stated, "I think history is the place where they can all form opinions. You know you gotta vote" (Personal Communication with Participant, May 19, 2014). Erica echoed this by stating, "Why wouldn't anybody need to learn social studies? I mean they

are only going to vote for whoever is going to lead or country or be leaders themselves" (Personal Communication with Participant, May 23, 2014).

The second aspect of social studies education deals with textbooks. Sewall wrote in 2000, "Textbooks are the draft horse of the social studies curriculum." The participants of this study indicated that textbooks are not being used as much as they have been in the past. Only about half of the participants discussed using a textbook, and each time it was referred to as a reference. Individuals discussed using textbooks as background information but utilizing other sources such as primary documents, video, and photographs to really explain the history. This lack of textbook use could be due to a lack of trust in the textbook source, or because textbooks are so often viewed as a way to synthesize information. Perhaps the participants feel as if they are prepared enough without using textbooks and already possess adequate information to teach the curriculum.

The Thomas Fordham Institute (2011), Boyle-Biase et al. (2008), and Leming et al. (2006), all conducted studies that showed the results of social studies losing importance and instructional time in the curriculum. The current study indicated that the participants felt a lack of respect and importance regarding the subject of social studies. Erica felt the strongest on the matter stating, "WE ARE LIKE RELATED ARTS TEACHERS! We're the last one on the totem pole as far as importance" (Personal Communication with Participant, May 23, 2014). Jeff and Marie both discussed how social studies is placed on the bottom of importance in favor of language arts and math. Celia and Marie discussed the change to Common Core Standards, and wondered how that will affect social studies importance. Both believe the emphasis will stay on language arts and math within the Common Core curriculum. As Conklin (2008) discussed

previously, students are becoming more able to handle abstract thought better, but higher-order thinking skills are decreasing.

Primary sources. Primary sources have "untapped potential for expanding and deepening the reading experiences of elementary and middle grade students" (Morgan & Rasinski, 2012). The definition of a primary source, according to the Library of Congress, is an original document or artifact from a time period. According to the U.S. Department of Education website, primary sources include documents, maps, music, art, photography, and original video. Stoddard (2010) and Salinas et al. (2011) discovered that there is a discrepancy in how to define primary sources, as the lack of consensus between the Library of Congress and the U.S. Department of Education indicates.

Participants for this study indicated a similar finding. Each participant gave the definition of primary sources as original documents or artifacts from a time period. This is the same definition for primary sources as found on the Library of Congress website. When asked for specific examples of what could be a primary source, answers were not as consistent as their definitions. All participants indicated a document as a source, but it varied beyond that among the different participants as to who would include photos, video, art, maps, and music, which are all listed as primary sources by the U.S. Department of Education. All participants indicated a lack of time to utilize primary sources to their best advantage due to emphasis on standardized testing. This lack of time will be discussed more in-depth when discussing the interconnectedness of historical critical thinking skills, primary sources, gifted education, and social studies.

Critical thinking skills and their place in teaching history or social studies. Social studies should not consist of rote memorization or simple answers to complex history; instead it

should be analysis and interpretation of primary sources (Lindquist, 2012; Stoddard, 2008; Wineberg, 1991). Facione began publishing information on critical thinking skills in 1992. He currently defines critical thinking skills as "thinking that has a purpose (proving a point, interpreting what something means, solving a problem)" (Facione, 2011, p. 4).

When participants were asked to define critical thinking skills, several stated it was not something they had previously ever defined. Several times participants indicated a question after stating a definition, as shown in Jeff and Celia's answers: "thinking outside the box?" (Jeff) (Personal Communication with Participant, May 16, 2014) and "not just regurgitating facts it's actually taking information from maybe different time periods and see how things have changed um making/drawing conclusions. Um I don't know" (Celia) (Personal Communication with Participant, May 14, 2014).

The definitions that were given by participants were short, mainly focusing on how they would observe critical thinking in students. The two observations most commonly given were considering multiple perspectives and engaging in in-depth thinking. Pam stated critical thinking skills would be "to evaluate, to form an opinion . . . asking a student to decide what point of view it's from" (Personal Communication with Participant, May 2, 2014). Fred described critical thinking skills in a similar way, but through a lesson example of having students analyze two sides of a situation and form an opinion. Nina maintained this same description by defining the concept as multiple perspectives and in-depth thought toward historical events.

This finding is similar to Paul and Elder's study in 2000 in which university professors listed critical thinking as a primary goal and believed they were teaching critical thinking, but could not accurately describe critical thinking or describe how to teach it. Primary sources were not specifically mentioned as a necessity for critical thinking skills by any of the participants in

the current study. Knowledge of critical thinking skills was the area where participating teachers were most unsure of their own knowledge.

Critical thinking, primary sources, gifted education and social studies. When asked about the four different concepts, participants were able to briefly discuss each one; however, it was more difficult for participants to put into words how the various concepts worked together. Primary sources were used by each participant, but without much deliberate thought with reference to critical thinking and gifted education, more so because their use is an aspect for curriculum development in a history class. This is similar to Gradwell's (2010) findings in which primary sources were used to help students think critically with an overall purpose to produce good citizens.

Participants of the study all indicated a desire to do analysis and interpretation of primary sources; however, at the same time all participants stated there was a lack of time to do a great deal of primary source analysis. Three of the comments made were: "We are (sic) shoving those standards down their throats" (Erica) (Personal Communication with Participant, May 23, 2014); "The standards become overwhelming – it's a running game" (Renee) (Personal Communication with Participant, May 23, 2014); and "Those concrete facts we have to drill in because of those standardized tests – that's the problem I've seen – since we have to narrow everything into such a narrow avenue of information that it takes away the whole point in being gifted and talented sometimes" (Jeff) (Personal Communication with Participant, May 16, 2014). This finding also agrees with findings from studies by Conklin (2011), Guidry et al. (2010), and Kingsley and Boone (2008). Each of those studies showed evidence that middle school social studies teachers are now required to teach vast amounts of information in a small amount of time thus leading

teachers to give as much factual information as possible while neglecting to develop historical critical thinking.

Participants did not feel they had a lack of knowledge about critical thinking skills or gifted education overall. However, the inconsistencies in how to define the various concepts indicate that there is a lack of knowledge for each participant. This is consistent with Van Tassel-Baska's (2008) findings, where teachers who were given training on critical thinking skills and gifted education had students with higher gains in critical thinking skills of gifted students.

Theoretical Implications

The theoretical framework for this study involved five theories. Each is discussed separately. A student's development from concrete to abstract is an important part of middle school years (Piaget, 1973). The development of critical thinking skills can be likened to Piaget's cognitive development stages as they are linked to intellectual potential (Behar-Horenstein & Niu, 2011). The formal operation stage includes abstract reasoning as a necessary component for critical thinking skills and not simply rote memorization or repeating what others have done (McLeod, 2012). Several participants discussed this issue throughout the interview. Instead of viewing the growth from concrete to abstract in middle school as a potential positive time to introduce abstract thought, the participants viewed this time of growth as the reason for why it was difficult to use primary sources in the classroom.

The current global age of technology allows for a constant use of primary sources through the multimedia available in the classroom (Mayer & Moreno, 1998). Mayer's Multimedia Theory attests to the possible cognitive growth through visual representation, including primary sources. Interestingly, only two of the participants discussed technology, Nina and Pam. Nina stated that she uses technology as often as possible, including making short

videos of information in which she records herself speaking because her students are digital natives. This use of recording is what Mayer calls Split-Attention Principle, which says multimedia presentations should use auditory narration, as well as what is called the Multiple Representation Principle, which is the idea that information should be presented with both visuals and verbally. Pam utilizes this concept through packets of information that include video and readings that she records and puts together and this is the only way she presents information. While the study did not include viewing student test scores, Pam stated her test scores were the best for her grade in the district.

The two concepts are connected through Wineburg's historical thinking matters concept. Wineburg began researching the concepts of historical critical thinking skills and primary sources in the social studies classroom in 1991. His studies have led to his development of a concept entitled Historical Thinking Matters specifically to address primary sources and critical thinking. The participants stated in the interviews and demonstrated in field observations that they use primary sources and wanted to have students demonstrate higher thinking skills, but they were not aware of what Wineberg has studied and brought together for teachers to use in this pursuit.

Paul and Elder's (2010) critical thinking skills concept and Erikson's (2007) concept based curriculum for the thinking classroom give a more in-depth explanation of the specific skill set that is to be developed. For both Paul and Elder (2010) and Erikson (2007), developing successful critical thinkers and a thinking classroom can be done through modeling a design of thinking and having students use it repeatedly until it becomes a habit. For the participants, this modeling is difficult to do because of time constraints as a result of the high stakes standardized testing and the amount of standards that must be covered each year.

Wineburg (1991) has consistently attempted to bring awareness to historical critical thinking skills for the social studies classroom, particularly how effective they could be. The current study indicated that while there was some knowledge of the concept there was much more that could be learned. In classroom observations, teachers were trying to utilize critical thinking skills in lessons and with project requirements. This is true especially with regard to critical thinking skills as presented by Paul and Elder (2010) and Erikson's (2007) thinking classroom. The theories presented were not being utilized to their potential in the classroom of each participant, which may be attributed to the lack of training and understanding of these theories.

Implication for Stakeholders

Participants in this study generally stated a lack of time in the classroom to develop lessons for critical thinking skills. Although they would like to include critical thinking skills and primary sources in their lessons, they discussed a lack of definitive knowledge on the subjects. This indicates for teachers a need to have professional development to help develop a concrete view of critical thinking skills. For administrators, this provides information on how social studies can help develop needed skills in students if teachers are given the proper support through professional development and time.

Knowledge of the needs of gifted students was also addressed in this study, and findings indicate that although teachers perceive themselves to be very knowledgeable on the subject and possess a belief in the importance of teaching gifted students, there is a disconnect between what they state and what they agree to when provided with written statements. This disconnect may indicate that gifted education needs to be addressed because every middle school teacher will likely have gifted students in their classroom. Teachers need to know and understand what to

expect with gifted students, and how to provide the best education for them. This could be accomplished through either offering the coursework for gifted certification for middle school social studies teachers, or providing professional development for these teachers.

Limitations of the Study

One limitation is in the very nature of the qualitative study - a small amount of participants. The information gathered is valid and meaningful. The number of participants was only nine and this means it cannot be generalized to the population at large.

A second limitation is that all participants are teachers within the same district, giving a smaller diverse group of teachers. Each teacher volunteered to be a participant and gave self-reports of information. The field observations were done on a pre-determined day in which primary sources and higher order thinking skills were known as the concept the researcher intended to look for in the classroom. This knowledge could have translated into the participant teaching the best lesson of the month, and may not have been an everyday occurrence.

Recommendations for Future Research

In light of this study, the following recommendations are made:

- 1. Many states will begin implementing Common Core Standards this year. There are currently no CCSS for social studies; however, language arts CCSS include being able to conduct analysis and evaluate primary documents. With the change in standards it would be prudent to see if social studies will be utilized effectively to help teach this idea, or will it remain strictly within language arts classrooms.
- 2. The National Association for Gifted Children (NAGC) professional development standards recommends multiple modes of delivery of curriculum including technology for critical thinking skills. Critical thinking skills are able to be developed with the use of

- primary sources. Primary sources are easily accessible today because of technology. Many districts are beginning to or have implemented technology initiatives. With the easy access to primary sources, discovering how well middle school social studies are taking advantage of this information would be worthwhile.
- 3. As the National Association of Gifted Children (NAGC) states in its professional development standards, educators should identify and address areas for personal growth for teaching gifted students. The participants were able to describe critical thinking skills in terms of what they do in the classroom, but did not have a definition name for the concept. School districts should be made aware of the potential of how critical thinking skills could be fostered in social studies, and the class should not rely on rote facts and memorization. Training should be given to teachers on concepts such as Historical Thinking Matters along with common planning times provided for middle school teachers to collaborate. Research can be conducted to determine if this additional knowledge helps teachers help students increase their understanding and knowledge of the subject.
- 4. Middle school social studies classrooms are currently heterogeneously grouped. As a result, it is likely that every social studies middle school teacher will have students that have been identified as gifted in their classroom. Training for all social studies teachers should be provided so that teachers understand the needs and characteristics of a gifted student. Research can be conducted to determine if this helps increase teacher planning for gifted students, specifically how even within the current standards gifted students can be challenged through primary source usage. This training aligns with the NAGC

professional standard 6, which recommends that educators participate in ongoing, research-supported professional development.

Conclusion

The findings in the study, drawn from the literature review, interviews of nine middle school social studies teachers, field observations of the participants' classrooms, and survey results, suggest that teachers do have a working knowledge of the concepts of gifted education, primary sources, and historical critical thinking skills, but they have not thought about it enough to fully conceptualize how the ideas work together in the social studies classroom. Middle school social studies teachers have gifted students in the classrooms every day, but are not given or required to attain training on how to best teach the gifted student. Nor are they given sufficient training on primary sources and critical thinking skills; instead they must rely on their own background knowledge to understand these concepts.

Gifted students are an important and essential asset to our nation and teachers should be given the training and knowledge to lead to their development at the highest potential. Teachers should also be made aware of how primary sources in social studies can provide a tool to help develop the critical thinking skills needed as students move on to high school, college, and beyond.

Final Thoughts and Summary

Dr. James Gallagher stated in 1976:

Failure to help the gifted child is a societal tragedy, the extent of which is difficult to measure, but which is surely great. How can we measure the sonata unwritten, the curative drug undiscovered, the absence of political

insight? They are the difference between what we are and what we could be as a society. (p. 4)

As a former middle school social studies teacher and a current Advanced Placement teacher of ninth graders, I am extremely interested in gifted students; particularly in ensuring students are developing critical thinking skills throughout middle school. Students identified as gifted are arriving in high school with the belief that they are prepared to take an AP class and many are woefully unprepared for the critical thinking and writing they must be able to do. I learned that the participating teachers in the study had some knowledge of the concepts asked, but there was not a consensus within nine people in one district regarding primary sources, gifted education, and critical thinking skills. This lack of clear defined concepts has led to a lack of knowledge on teaching gifted students and critical thinking skills development.

Most teachers are not endorsed by the state to teach gifted students even while acknowledging this is important for the classroom. In the state of South Carolina, the endorsement could be achieved by taking two classes. Whereas in most states, gifted endorsement requires four to five courses. At the same time, gifted education has continued to find less funding and importance, including the district in which the study took place. Social studies has increasingly become less important in the public education classroom and the earlier grades seem locked into rote memorization with time constraints for critical thinking skill development.

Students each year in my classroom start the semester with no worries. They have, for the most part, passed social studies easily through the memorization of basic facts, and believe the subject is the least important and easiest. As Erica said during her interview, "We are (thought of) (sic) as related arts" (Personal Communication with Participant, May 23, 2014).

When I give students the first test for ninth-grade social studies in preparation for the Advanced Placement exam, their grade almost always has students wondering how to study and think critically to be better prepared the next time. Critical thinking skills can be fostered by middle school social studies teachers, the foundation is there; however, time constraints and lack of professional learning time have become real issues. We must provide for our gifted students to the best of our ability and social studies and primary sources are a fantastic vehicle to do so.

REFERENCES

- Adams, C. (2003). Twenty-five years later: Spinning our wheels or moving forward? *Roeper Review*, 25(3), 116-117. doi: 10.1080/02783190309554212
- Agarwal-Rangnath, R. (2013). Social studies, literacy, and social justice in the common core classroom: A guide for teachers. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- American MENSA (2013). *Characteristics of giftedness*. Retrieved from http://www.us.mensa.org/learn/gifted-youth/gifted-characteristics/
- Anney, V. N. (2014). Ensuring the quality of the findings of qualitative research: Looking at trustworthiness criteria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policy Studies*, 5(2), 272-281. doi: 2141-6990
- Ary, D., Jacobs, L. C., & Sorenson, C. (2006). *Introduction to Research in Education* (8th edition. Belmont: CA: Wadsworth, Cengage Learning.
- Bangel, N. J., Moon, S. M., & Capobianco, B. M. (2010). Preservice teachers' perceptions and experiences in a gifted education training model. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, *54*(3), 209-221. doi: 10:1177/0016986210369251
- Barker, C., Pistrang, N., & Elliot, R. (2003). *Research methods in clinical psychology: An introduction for students and practitioners* (2nd ed.). West Sussex, England: John Wiley & Sons.
- Barksdale, S. C. (2013). Good readers make good historians: "Can we just settle it on 'a lot of people died'?" *History Teacher*, 46(2), 231-252.
- Behar-Horenstein, L. S., & Niu, L. (2011). Teaching critical thinking skills in higher education:

 A review of the literature. *Journal of College Teaching & Learning*, 8(2), 25-41.

- Berman, K. M., Schultz, R. A. & Weber, C. L. (2012). A lack of awareness and emphasis in preservice teacher training: Preconceived beliefs about the gifted and talented. *Gifted Child Today*, *35*(1), 19-26. doi: 10.1177/1076217511428307
- Bickford, John H. III, "Complicating Students' Historical Thinking through Primary Source Reinvention" (2010). *Faculty Research and Creative Activity*. Paper 3. http://thekeep.eiu.edu/eemedu_fac/3
- Binet. A., & Simon, T. (1983). *The development of intelligence in children*. Baltimore, MD: Williams & Wilkins. (Original work published 1916).
- Bisland, B. M. (2009). Two traditions in the social studies curriculum for the elementary grades: The textbooks of Paul R. Hanna and Harold O. Rugg. *The Journal of Social Studies Research*, *33*(2), 155-196.
- Blumer, H. (1969). *Symbolic interactionism: Perspective and method*. Berkley, CA: University of California Press. Bogdan, R. C., & Biklen, S. K. (2007). *Qualitative research for education: An introduction to theories and methods* (5th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Boyle-Baise, M., Hsu, M-C., & Johnson, S. (2008). Putting reading first: Teaching social studies in elementary classrooms. *Theory and Research in Social Education*, *36*(3), 233-255.
- Boyles, N. (2014). Close reading without tears. *Motivation Matters*, 72(1), 32-37.
- Brooks, S. (2009). Historical empathy in the social studies classroom: A review of the literature. *The Journal of Social Studies Research*, *33*(2), 213-234.
- Brown, E., Avery, L., Van Tassel-Baska, Worley, B., & Stambaigh, T. A five state analysis of gifted education policies. *Roeper Review*, 29, 11-23. doi: 10:10/02783100609554409
- Bryant, J. (2007). Photographs as primary documents in the social studies classroom. *Childhood Education*, 83(4), 224.

- Buhl, Nathan John, (2010). A Phenomenological Study of the Attitudes & Perceptions of Middle School Students Towards the Character, Advocacy, Remediation, Enrichment, & School Spirit (CARES) Program. (Doctoral Dissertations and Projects). Paper 349.

 Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.liberty.edu/doctoral/349
- Burney, V. (2008). Applications of social cognitive theory to gifted education. *Roeper Review*, 30(2), 130-139.
- Carman, C. A. (2013). Comparing apples and oranges: Fifteen years of definitions of giftedness in research. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 24(1), 52-70. doi: 10.1177/1932202X12472602
- Chappell, D. (2010). Training Americans: Ideology, performance and social studies textbooks. *Theory and Research in Social Education*, 38(2), 248-269.
- Colangelo, N., Assouline, S. G., & Gross, M. U. (2004). *A nation deceived: How schools hold back America's brightest students*. The Templeton National Report on Acceleration. Iowa City, IO: University of Iowa. Acceleration Institute.
- Common Core State Standards Initiative. (2015). English Language Arts Standards –

 Introduction Key Design Consideration. Retrieved from

 http://www.corestandards.org/ELA-Literacy/introduction/key-design-consideration/
- Conklin, H. G. (2011). Teaching intellectually challenging social studies in the middle school: Problems and possibilities. *Social Education*, 75(4), 220, 222-225.
- Conklin, H. G., Hawley, T. S., Power, D., & Ritter, J. K. (2010). Learning from young adolescents: The use of structure teacher education coursework to help beginning teachers investigate middle school students' intellectual capabilities. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 61(4), 313-327. doi: 10.1177/0022487110371378

- Diffily, D. (2002). Project-based learning: Meeting social studies standards and the needs of gifted learners. *Gifted Child Today*, 25(3), 40-43.
- Drain, J. D. (2008). *Teachers' attitudes and practices toward differentiating for gifted learners* in k-5 general education classrooms. (Doctoral Dissertation). Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.liberty.edu/doctoral
- Duckworth, E. (1964). Piaget rediscovered by Eleanor Duckworth. *The Arithmetic Teacher*, 11(7), 496-499. Duran, C., & Null, J. W. (2009). Has the Texas Revolution changed: A study of U.S. history textbooks from 1897-2003. *American Educational History Journal*, 36(2), 311-326.
- Endacott, J. (2010). Reconsidering affective engagement in historical empathy. *Theory and Research in Social Education*, 38(1), 6-47.
- Ensign, J. (1997). *Homeschooling gifted students: An introductory guide for parents*. (Report number 543). Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov
- ERIC Digest (1990). *Giftedness and the gifted: What's it all about?* Retrieved from Eric Publications.
- Erikson, L. (2007). *Concept-based curriculum instruction for the thinking classroom*. Thousand Oaks, California: Corwin Press.
- Facione, P. A. (2011). *Critical thinking: What it is and why it counts*. Millbrae, California: Measured Reasons and the California Academic Press.
- Fallace, T. (2008). Did the social studies really replace history in American secondary schools? *Teachers College Record*, 110(10), 2245-2270.

Farkas, S. & Duffett, A. (2008). *High-achieving students in the era of NCLB: Results from a national teacher survey*. Washington, DC: Thomas B. Fordham. Retrieved from www.nagc.org/uploadedFiles/News_Room/NAGC_Advocacy_in_the_News/Fordham.pdf

Fillpot, E. (2012). Historical thinking in the third grade. Social Studies, 103(5), 206-217.

- Ford, D. (2011). Key theories and frameworks for improving the recruitment and retention of African American students in gifted education. *Journal of Negro Education*, 80(3), 239-253.
- Ford, D. Y., Moore III, J. L., & Milner, H. R. (2005). Beyond culture blindness: A model of culture with implications for gifted education. *Roeper Review*, 27(2), 97-103.
- Franklin, B. (1749). *Proposals relating to the education of youth in Pensilvania* (sic). Retrieved from http://www.archives.upenn.edu/primdocs/1749proposals.html
- Gagne, F. (1995). From giftedness to talent: A developmental model and its impact on the language of the field. *Roeper Review*, 18, 103-111.
- Gall, M. D., Gall, J. P., & Borg, W. R. (2007). *Educational research: An introduction* (8th ed.). New York, NY: Pearson.
- Gallagher, J. J. (1976). Teaching the gifted child (2nd ed.). Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Gradwell, J. M. (2010). Using sources to teach history for the common good: A case of one teacher's purpose. *The Journal of Social Studies Research*, *34*(1), 59-66.
- Guidry, A., Cuthrell, K., O'Connor, K., & Good, A. (2010). From the green mile to the yellow brick road: Using a practical model to fill in the social studies content gap. *The Social Studies*, *101*, 22-29. doi: 10.1080/00377990903284096
- Halpern, D. F. (2007). The nature and nurture of critical thinking. In R. J. Sternberg, H. L.Roediger III, & D. F. Halpern (Eds.) *Critical Thinking in Psychology* (pp. 1-14). Cambridge,NY: Cambridge University Press.

- Halvorsen, A. L. (2012). "Don't know much about history": The New York Times 1943 survey of U.S. history and the controversy it generated. *Teachers College Record*, 114(1), 1-32.
- Hampel, R. L. (1985). Too much is too little. Social Education, 49(5), 363-365.
- Hargrove, K. (2012). From the classroom: Advocating acceleration. *Gifted Child Today*, *35*(1), 72-73.
- Hernandez-Ramos, P., & De La Paz, S. (2009). Learning history in middle school by designing multimedia in a project-based learning experience. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 42(2), 151-173.
- Hughes, C. E., Kettler, T., Shaunessy-Dedrick, E., & VanTassel-Baska, J. (2014). *A teacher's guide to using the Common Core state standards with gifted and advanced learners in the English language arts*. Waco, TX: Prufrock Press.
- Jefferson, T. (1781). *Notes on the State of Virginia*. London: John Stockdale. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?id=UO0OAAAAQAAJ&printsec=frontcover&dq=notes+on+the+state+of+virginia+%2B+%E2%80%9Chistory,+by+informing+us+about+the+past,+enables+us+to+judge+the+future&hl=en&sa=X&ei=KBLqVJrSAcubyASti4CoBg&ved=0CB8Q6AEwAA#v=onepage&q&f=false
- Jefferson, T. (1814, September 17). [Thomas Jefferson writing to Peter Carr from Monticello, Virginia] Retrieved from http://etext.lib.virginia.edu/toc/modeng/public/Jef1Gri.html
- Johnsen, S. K. (2012). Gifted education and the Common Core State Standards. *Gifted Child Today*, 35(2), 81-82. doi: 10.1177/1076217512437730
- Johnsen, S. K., Ryser, G. R., & Assouline, S. G. (2014). A teacher's guide to using the Common Core State Standards with mathematically gifted and advanced learners. Waco, TX:

 Prufrock Press.

- Jones, J. K., & Hebert, T. P. (2012). Engaging diverse student learners in U.S. history classrooms. *Gifted Child Today*, *35*, 252-261. doi: 10.1177/1076217512455476
- Kaplan, S. N. (2012). Advocacy: Becoming politically savvy-being gifted in the current educational climate. *Gifted Child Today*, *35*(2), 150-151.
- Kearney, K. (1996). Highly gifted children in full inclusion classrooms. *Highly Gifted Children*, 12(4). Retrieved from http://www.hollingworth.org/fullincl.html
- King, D. C. (2012). Long-term social and emotional outcomes of subject-area acceleration on gifted learners. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.liberty.edu/.
- Kingsley, K. V., & Boone, R. (2008). Effects of multimedia software on achievement of middle school students in an American history class. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 41(2), 203-221.
- Krefting, L. (1991). Rigor in qualitative research: The assessment of trustworthiness. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 45(3), 214-222.
- Lavere, D. B. (2008). The quality of pedagogical exercises in U.S. history textbooks. *The Social Studies*, 99(1), 3-7.
- Lee, P., & Shemilt, D. (2003). A scaffold, not a cage: Progression and progression models in history. *Teaching History*, 113, 13-23.
- Leming, J. S., Ellington, L., & Schug, M. (2006). The state of social studies: A national random survey of elementary and middle school social studies teachers. *Social Education*, 70(5), 322-327.
- Library of Congress (n.d.). *Using primary sources*. Retrieved from http://www.loc.gov/teachers/usingprimarysources/

- Libresco, A. S. (2007). A test of high-order thinking. *Social Studies and the Young Learner*, 20(1), 14-17.
- Lindquist, D. H. (2012). Avoiding the complex history, simple answer syndrome: A lesson plan for providing depth and analysis in the high school classroom. *The History Teacher*, 45(3), 405-418.
- Little, C. A. (2012). Curriculum as motivation for gifted students. *Psychology in the Schools*, 49(7), 695-705. doi: 10.1002/pits.21621
- Little, C. A., Feng, A. X., Von Tassel-Baska, J., Rogers, K. B., & Avery, L. D. (2007). A study of curriculum effectiveness in social studies. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, *51*, 272 -285.
- Manning, S. (2006). Recognizing gifted students: A practical guide for teachers (Report no: EJ724632). *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, Winter. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ724632.pdf
- Martell, C. C., & Hashimoto-Martell, E. A. (2011, April). *Throwing out the history textbook:*Changing social studies texts and the impact on students. Paper presented at the American Educational Research Association Annual Meeting, New Orleans, LA. Abstract retrieved from http://convention2.allacademic.com/one/aera/aera11/index.php?cmd=aera11&id=
- Martin, D., Wineburg, S., Rosenzweig, R., & Leon, S. (2008). Historicalthinkingmatters.org: Using the web to teach historical thinking. *Social Education*, 77(3), 140-143.

- Mayer, R. E., & Moreno, R. (1998). A split-attention effect in multimedia learning: Evidence for dual processing systems in working memory. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 90(2), 312-320.
- Mayer, R. H. (2006). Learning to teach young people how to think historically: A case study of one student teachers' experience. *The Social Studies*, *97*(2), 69-76.
- McClain, M. K., & Pfeiffer, S. (2012). Identification of gifted students in the United States today: A look at state definitions, policies, and practices. *Journal of Applied School Psychology*, 28(1), 59-88.
- McCoy, K. M., & Rader, M. H. (2008). Differentiated instruction for gifted business students: The other side of the coin. *Journal of Applied Research for Business Instruction*, 6(1), 1-6.
- McLeod, S. (2012). Jean Piaget. Retrieved from http://www.simplypsychology.org/piaget.html
- Millet, T. C., Brunner, M. M., Callahan, C. M., Moon, T. R., Azano, A. P., (2014). Exploring teacher beliefs and use of acceleration, ability grouping, and formative assessment. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, *37*(3), 245-268.
- Moon, T. R. (2002). Using performance assessment in the social studies classroom. *Gifted Child Today*, 25(3), 53-59.
- Moon, T. R., Callahan, C. M., Tomlinson, C. A. & Miller, E. M. (2002). *Middle School Classrooms: Teachers' Reported Practices and Student Perceptions* (RM02164). Storrs, CT: The National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented, University of Connecticut
- Morgan, H. (2008). American school textbooks: How they portrayed the Middle East from 1898 to 1994. *American Educational History Journal*, 25(2), 315-330.
- Morgan, D. N., & Rasinski, T. V. (2012). The power and potential of primary sources. *Reading Teacher*, 65(8), 584-594.

- Morris, R. V. (2008). Hitchcock versus shaker chairs: Artifacts to teach about the rise and rejection of industrialism in the young republic. *International Journal of Social Education* 23(2), 1-16.
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. New York, NY: Sage Publications.
- National Association for Gifted Children (2008). What is gifted? Retrieved from www.nagc.org
- National Council for the Social Studies (1994). Curriculum standards for social studies:
 - Expectations for excellence. Silver Spring, MD. National Council for the Social Studies.
- National Governors Association Center for Best Practices & Council of Chief State School Officers. (2010a). *Common Core State Standards*. Retrieved from http://www.corestandards.org/the-standards
- National Governors Association Center for Best Practices & Council of Chief State School Officers. (2010b). Common Core State Standards for English language arts & literacy in history/social studies, science, and technical subjects. Retrieved from http://www.corestandards.org/assets/CCSSI ELA%20Standards.pdf
- NCSS (2010). National Curriculum Standards for social studies: A framework for teaching, learning and assessment. Waldorf, MD: National Council for the Social Studies.
- Neumann, D. (2012). Training teachers to thinking historically: Applying recent research to professional development. *The History Teacher*, *45*(3), 383-403.
- O'Reilly, F. L., & Matt, J. J. (2012). The selection of gifted students: Did Malcolm Gladwell overstate the role of relative age in the gifted program selection process? *Gifted Child Today*, 35(2), 122-127.
- Ormond, B. (2011). Enabling students to read historical images: The value of the three-level guide for historical inquiry. *History Teacher*, 44(2), 179-190.

- O'Shea, K., & McCoach, B. (2010). *Educators' Perception of Gifted Education Instrument*.

 Retrieved from personal correspondence.
- Padurano, D. (2011). Isn't that a dude? Using images to teacher gender and ethnic diversity in the U.S. history classroom Pocahontus: A case study. *History Teacher*, 44(2), 191-208.
- Paul, R.,& Elder, L. (2010). *The miniature guide to critical thinking concepts and tools*.

 Tomalas, CA: Foundation for Critical Thinking Press. Retrieved from http://louisville.edu/ideastoaction/about/criticalthinking/framework
- Paul, R., & Elder, L. (2000). Critical thinking: Teaching students the logic of writing. *Journal of Developmental Education*, 23(3), 36-367.
- Persson, R. S. (2012). Cultural variation and dominance in a globalised knowledge-economy:

 Towards a culture-sensitive research paradigm in the science of giftedness. *Gifted and Talented International*, 27(1), 15-45.
- Peterson, T. E. (2012). Constructivists' pedagogy and symbolism: Vico, Cassirer, Piaget, Batenson. *Educational Philosophy & Theory*, 44(8), 878-891. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-5812.2011.00765.x
- Phipps, S. B. (2010). *High school social studies teachers' beliefs and education for democratic citizenship* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved http://digitalcommons.liberty.edu/doctoral

Piaget, J. (1973). Main Trends in Psychology. London: George Allen & Unwin.

Piaget, J. (1988). Education in democracy, Proceedings from the Cambridge school conference on progressive education. K. Jervis & A. Tobier (Eds.) New York, NY: Columbia University Press.

- Plucker, J. (2012). *Human intelligence: Leta Stetter Hollingworth*. Retrieved from http://www.indiana.edu/~intell/lhollingworth.shtml Renzulli, J. (2011). What makes giftedness? Reexamining a definition. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 92(8), 81-88.
- Renzulli, J. S. (2012). Reexamining the role of gifted education and talent development for the 21st century: A four-part theoretical approach. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, *56*(3), 150-159. doi: 10.1177/0016986212444901
- Romanowski, M. H. (2009). What you don't know can hurt you: Textbook omissions and 9/11. *The Clearing House*, 82(6). 290-296.
- Ross, M. W. (2012). A phenomenological study of teacher and administrator experiences in the analysis and interpretation of student assessment data (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.liberty.edu/doctoral
- Rudd, R. (2007). Defining critical thinking. *Techniques: Connecting Education & Careers*.

 Retrieved from https://www.acteonline.org/uploadedFiles/Publications_and_E
 Media/files/files-techniques-2007/Oct07ResearchReport.pdf
- Rush, B. (1786). *The mode of education proper in the republic*. Retrieved from http://press-pubs.uchicago.edu/founders/print_documents/v1ch18s30.html
- Saldana, J. (2013). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Salinas, C., Bellows, M. E., & Liaw, H. L. (2011). Pre-service social studies teachers' historical thinking and digitized primary sources: What they use and why. *Contemporary Issues in Technology and Teacher Education*, 11(2), 184-204.

- Sanchez, T. R. (2007). The depiction of Native Americans in recent (1991-2004) secondary American history textbooks: How far have we come? *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 40(4), 311-320. doi: 10.1080/10665680701493565
- Saye, J. W., & Brush, T. (2007). Using technology enhanced learning environments to support problem-based historical inquiry in secondary school classrooms. *Theory and Research in Social Education*, 35(2), 196-230.
- Seagoe, M.V. (n.d.). Learning Characteristics of Gifted Children. Los Angeles, CA.
- Sewall, G. T. (2000). *History textbooks at the new century: A report of the American Textbook Council*. New York, NY: American Textbook Council. Retrieved from ERIC.
- Schroeder-Davis, S. J. (2014). A cure for the common core. *Gifted Education Press Quarterly*, 28(A), 2-10.
- Singer, A. J. (2008). Social studies for secondary schools: Teaching to learn, learning to teach.

 New York, NY: Taylor & Francis.
- Sisk, D. A. (2012). A catalyst for charting a path to research validity in the field of gifted education. *Gifted and Talented International*, 27(1), 67-70.
- Smith, D. W. (2013). *Phenomenology*. Retrieved from http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/phenomenology/
- South Carolina Department of Education (2011). *Social studies standards*. Retrieved from http://ed.sc.gov/agency/se/Teacher-Effectiveness/Standards-and-Curriculum/Social_Studies.cfm
- South Carolina State Board of Education (2004). *Regulation 43-220*. Retrieved from http://ed.sc.gov/agency/programs-services/47/documents/gtreg43220.pdf

- Standish, A. (2008). Changing perspective in high school world geography: 1950-2005. *Journal of Geography*, 107(4-5), 121-130.
- Stern, S. M., & Stern, J. A. (2011). The state "of" state U.S. history standards 2011. *Thomas B. Fordham Institute Report*. Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov/PDFS/ED516608.pdf
- Sternberg, R. J., & Davidson, J. E. (2005). *Conceptions of Giftedness* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Stoddard, J. D. (2010). The role of epistemology and ideology in teachers' pedagogy with historical 'media.' *Teachers and Teaching: Theory and Practice*, *16*(1), 153-171.
- Sunal, C. S., & Sunal, D. W. (2007-2008). Reports from the field: Elementary teacher candidates describe the teaching of social studies. *International Journal of Social Education*, 22(2), 29-48.
- Swan, K., & Hicks, D. (2007). Through the democratic lens: The role of purpose in leveraging technology to support historical inquiry in the social studies classroom. *The International Journal of Social Studies Education*, 21(2), 142-168.
- Swanson, J. D. (2007). Policy and practice: A case study of gifted education policy implementation. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, *31*(2), 131-164.
- Swanson, J. D., & Lord, E. W. (2011). Harnessing and guiding the power of policy: Examples from one state's experiences. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 36(2), 198-219.
- Tally, B., & Goldenberg, L. B. (2005). Fostering historical thinking with digitalized primary sources. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 38(1), 1-21.
- Teaching history (2011). Retrieved from http://www.teachinghistory.org
- Terman, L. (1925). *Genetic studies of genius: Volume I. Mental and physical*. Stanford University, California: Stanford University Press.

- Thaler, V. S. (2013). Teaching historical research skills to generation Y: One instructor's approach. *History Teacher*, 46(2), 267-281.
- Thornton, S. J., & Noddings, N. (2004) *Teaching social studies that matters: Curriculum for active learning*. New York, NY: Teacher's College Press.
- Tomlinson, C. A., Callahan, C. M., Moon, T. R., Tomchin, E. M., Landrum, M., Imbeau, M., Hunsaker, S. L., & Eiss, N., (1995). Preservice teacher preparation in meeting the needs of gifted and academically diverse students. *The National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented*. Charlottesville, VA: The University of Virginia. Retrieved from http://www.gifted.uconn.edu/nrcgt/reports/rm95134/rm95134.pdf
- Traits of a thousand gifted children. Palo Alto, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Troxclair, D. A. (2000). Differentiating instruction for gifted students in regular education social studies classes. *Roeper Review*, 22, 195-199.
- U. S. Department of Education. (2008). *The Higher Education Opportunity Act* (Public Law 110-315). Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/policy/highered/leg/hea08/index.html
- U.S. Department of Education. (1988). *Jacob K. Javits gifted and talented children and youth*education act, and office of comprehensive school health education act of 1987. Retrieved from ERIC.
- U.S. Department of Education, Office of Elementary and Secondary Education. (2014). *Jacob K. Javits gifted and talented students education programs*. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/programs/javits/funding.html
- Van-Tassel-Baska, J. (2015). Arguments for and against the Common Core State Standards. *Gifted Child Today*, 38(1), 60-62. doi: 10.1177/1076217514556535

- Van-Tassel-Baska, J. (2008, July). What works in the curriculum for the gifted. Keynote address at the Asia Specific Conference for the Gifted: Tasmania, Australia.
- VanTassel-Baska, J. (2012). Curriculum issues: Using questions to elevate thinking. *Gifted Child Today*, 35(1), 68-69. doi: 10.1177/1076217511428310
- Vickers, D. (Executive Producer). (2014). *The Tonight Show with Jay Leno*. [Television Series]. Burbank, CA: National Broadcasting Company.
- Waring, S. M., & Robinson, K. S. (2010). Developing critical and historical thinking skills in middle grades social studies. *Middle School Journal*, 42(1), 22-28.
- Weber, W. (2012). The evolution of "the history teacher" and the reform of history education. *History Teacher*, 45(3), 329-357.
- Wiersma, A. (2008). A study of the teaching methods of high school history teachers. *The Social Studies*, 99(3), 111-116.
- Wilcox, R. A., Bridges, S. L., & Montgomery, D. (2010). The role of coaching by teaching artists for arts-infused social studies. What project CREATES has to offer. *Journal for Learning through the Arts*, *6*(1). Retrieved from http://escholarship.org/uc/item/6mw9s8qs Wilson, B. P. (2006). Constitution day. *Academic Questions*, *20*(1), 22-31.
- Wineburg, S. (1991). On the reading of historical texts: Notes on the breach between school and academy. *American Educational Research Journal*, 28(3), 495-519.
- Wineburg, S. (1998). Reading Abraham Lincoln: An expert/expert study in the interpretation of historical texts. *Cognitive Science*, 22(3), 319-346. doi: 10.1016/S0364-0213(99)80043-3
- Wineburg, S. (2001). Historical thinking and other unnatural acts: Charting the future of teaching the past. Critical perspectives of the past. Chicago, IL: Temple University Press.

Wooden, J. A. (2011). "I had always heard Lincoln was a good person but...": A study of sixth graders' reading of Lincoln's views on black-white relations. *Social Studies*, 99(1), 23-32.

Yarema, A. E. (2002). A decade of debate: Improving content and interest in history education. *The History Teacher*, 35, (3), 389-398.

APPENDIX A

Eligibility Criteria for Placement in the Academically Gifted Program

A student must meet the criteria in two of the three dimensions below to qualify for the gifted program.

Student Grade Level	Dimension A Aptitude	Dimension B Achievement Test	Dimension C Academic Performance
	Score on CogAT-administered to all state 2nd graders in the fall must be 93% on verbal, nonverbal, or composite. OR	Fall or Spring MAP test score of 94% in reading comprehension or mathematical problem solving/concepts OR Score of 94% on Iowa	STAR performance tasks (spring) score of 16 or better on the verbal or non-verbal portions.
Rising 3 rd grade Students (current 2 nd grade students)	Score on Raven test is 93%	Test of Basic Skills in reading or math	
	A score of 96% (national age percentile) on either of the above results in automatic placement without dimension B or C requirement.		
di	Raven score of 94% for referred students	PASS score of "advanced" in math or reading	STAR Performance Tasks (Spring) score of 18 on verbal
Rising 4 th grade students (current 3rd grade students)	A score of 96% (national age percentile) composite	OR	or non-verbal portions
	without dimension B or C requirement. Raven score of 94% for referred students A score of 96% (national age percentile) composite Fall MAP (or other nationally norm-referenced test) score of 94% in reading comprehension of mathematical problem solving Raven score of 94% pass score of "advanced" in "advanc		
			STAR Performance Tasks (Spring) score of 16 on verbal or 22 on non-verbal

	(national age	OR	portions
41.	percentile) composite		
5 th grade Students		Fall MAP (or other	
(current 4th		nationally	
grade students)		norm-referenced test)	
		score of 94% in reading	
		comprehension or	
		mathematical problem	
		solving	
	Raven score of 94%	PASS score of	STAR Performance
	for referred students	"advanced" in	Tasks (Spring) score
		math or reading	of 16 on verbal
	A score of 96%		or 25 on non-verbal
	(national age	OR	portions
Rising 6 th Grade	percentile) composite		
Students (Current 5th		Fall MAP (or other	
Grade students)		nationally	
		norm-referenced test)	
		score of 94% in reading	
		comprehension or	
		mathematical problem	
		solving	
	Raven score of 94%	Fall MAP (or other	3.75 final Grade Point
	for referred students	nationally	Average in core
		norm-referenced test)	courses using a 4
	A score of 96%	score of 94% in reading	point scale.
Rising 7th and 8 th	(national age	comprehension or math	
grade students	percentile) composite	problem solving	GPA is used only for
(current 6th and 7th			rising 7th
grade students			and 8th graders

([School District Name Withheld], 2013)

APPENDIX B

IRB Approval Letter

LIBERTY UNIVERSITY. INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD

April 7, 2014

Lara Henry

IRB Approval 1838.040714: The Teachers' Perspective of Critical Thinking Skills Development in Middle School Gifted Students in the Social Studies Classroom through the Use of Primary Sources

Dear Lara,

We are pleased to inform you that your above study has been approved by the Liberty IRB. This approval is extended to you for one year. If data collection proceeds past one year, or if you make changes in the methodology as it pertains to human subjects, you must submit an appropriate update form to the IRB. The forms for these cases were attached to your approval email.

Please retain this letter for your records. Also, if you are conducting research as part of the requirements for a master's thesis or doctoral dissertation, this approval letter should be included as an appendix to your completed thesis or dissertation.

Thank you for your cooperation with the IRB, and we wish you well with your research project.

Sincerely,

(434) 592-4054



Liberty University | Training Champions for Christ since 1971

APPENDIX C

Guided Interview Questions

- Share your experiences you have had teaching middle school social studies to gifted students.
 - Possible probes: What are some of the challenges and rewards of teaching gifted students? How do you address the needs of middle school gifted students? How do you perceive yourself as a social studies teacher for gifted students? How does your school provide gifted education services?
- 2) What do you feel qualifies you to teach middle school social studies as well as gifted students?
 - Possible probes: What coursework have you had on teaching gifted and talented students? Do you have any personal experience outside of the classroom with gifted students? Was your major in school in one of the social studies disciplines?
- 3) What are your beliefs about how gifted students learn?
 Possible probes: How do you teach gifted students and is it different than the non-gifted?

What is the reasoning for teaching gifted students differently?

- 4) How would you describe a primary source and its use in the classroom?

 Possible Probes: What do you consider to be a primary source? Where do you find primary sources? Why do you think primary sources are important for the social studies classroom? When making a lesson where do you find the information you use?
- 5) Describe critical thinking skills in the social studies classroom.
 Possible probes: How would you define critical thinking skills? Do you think using
 primary sources in the social studies classroom could be used to develop critical thinking

skills in middle school students? As a middle school social studies teacher, have you thought about a link between primary sources and critical thinking skills in the classroom?

APPENDIX D

Field Notes Template

Description	Interpretation	Concepts/Themes/Musings
Field Note No:		
Location:	Time Start:	
Occasion:	Time Stop:	
Date:		

APPENDIX E

Informed consent letter for dissertation participant

Dear Middle School Social Studies Teachers,

I am a doctoral student at Liberty University in a Curriculum and Instruction program. I am undertaking research for my doctoral dissertation and I would like you to participate in my study.

My dissertation subject centers around gifted students needs, critical thinking skills development, and primary source usage in the middle school social studies classroom. I would like to include local middle school teachers in the study because it is a good representation of various settings.

Your participation would include completing a survey on perceptions of gifted education, two recorded interview sessions approximately 30 – 45 minutes as well as allowing me to observe one classroom lesson that will not be recorded. During the interview sessions, your background and beliefs regarding gifted education, critical thinking skills and primary source usage will be discussed.

All information will be kept confidential and in all dissertation discussion a pseudonym will be used including for quotations. Your participation would be completely voluntary and you may withdraw at any time. You may also review all interview transcripts.

This study will shared with my dissertation committee as well as other appropriate faculty at Liberty University. The results will be included in the dissertation as well as possible manuscripts submitted to professional journals for publication. If you have any questions please feel free to contact me.

Thank you so much for your time and your v	aluable participation.	Please sign b	elow if
you are willing to participate in this dissertation rese	arch.		
	_		
Lara E. Henry (Researcher)			
	_		
Participant's signature, name and position			
Date			